HB 2027 & HB2028

Good Afternoon Mr. Chairman and Committee Members,
My name is Yolanda Bell, and | am a constituent of Delegate Roem.

| have been here before you every year since my sister, Anastasia Adams, was
killed; speaking in favor of Bills that will stop institutions and guardians from doing
what was done to her again. | don't know what else | can say to you or show you to
impress upon you the importance and urgent need for these bills and meaningful
guardianship reform with teeth. So | leave you with the facts and plead with you
once again to pass these bills unanimously.

Fact No. 1. Anastasia was placed into a hospital guardianship solely because |, as
her power of attorney, refused to consent to her discharge because | believed she
was still too ill. A fact that the Office of Medicare Hearing and Appeals (OMHA)
confirmed in their ALJ's written decision. Per 42 CFR § 478.38", the fact that
Anastasia’s discharge had been appealed to Medicare in Washington, D.C. nullified
Kepro's decision siding with the hospital. But by that time Fairfax had already given
her over to Inova and their guardians and they had already taken and removed her
and refused to give her back. Bottom line Inova should not have been able to file
for and receive guardianship until Medicare rendered their decision.

Her guardian’s that have contacted you have lied to you. | leave you with the official
court transcript for the guardianship hearing and the Medicare decision. | know you
don't have the time to read them now because of other bills you must hear, but |
respectfully request you do read them to have a full understanding of the true
account of what was done.

Fact No. 2. It was impossible to get back in front of Judge Shannon to have him look
at what was happening to Anastasia. Judges must have better oversight of their
guardianship cases. Better oversight would have prevented my sisters’ suffering
and her death.

142 CFR § 478.38 Effect of a reconsidered determination - A QIO reconsidered
determination is binding upon all parties to the reconsideration unless - (a) A hearing is
requested in accordance with § 478.40 and a final decision rendered.



Fact No. 3. Anastasia was neglected and abused. The guardians did not regularly
visit and check on her. When notified of injuries they essentially ignored them.
Anastasia weighed over 120lbs when the guardians took her. She weighed a mere
87Ibs when she died nine months later.

Fact No. 4. The guardians, in their own words, stopped feeding and hydrating
Anastasia solely “so she [would] die faster.”

Fact No. 5. Anastasia had broken bones and too many bruises to count when she
died and her body showed signs of abuse, a struggle, and it is believed sexual
assault.

Fact No. 6. Anastasia’s right hip/femur and ankle were broken and never fixed
causing her excruciating pain and leaving her deformed. The guardians canceled
her private medical coverage which was paid for by me.

Fact No. 7. All visitors were banned from seeing Anastasia until | took the guardians
to federal court.

Fact No. 8. Visitation was severely restricted by the guardians. This combined with
no regular in person visits by the guardians left her vulnerable to abuse and neglect.
The eyes of family and friends could have prevented it from happening.

Fact No. 9. Clergy were turned away.

Fact No. 10. Anastasia suffered horribly because there are no laws to prevent any of
these things from happening.

Fact No. 11. | told Inova in the January 26, 2017, meeting | would remove Anastasia
from the hospital and they took her anyway.

Fact No. 12. Because of the severe visitation restrictions, Anastasia died alone
without family, friends, or clergy there to hold her hand.

Thank you for your time and attention.

Respectfully,
YolandaBell
Anastasia’s Voice
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THE PROCEEDI NGS
(The court reporter was first duly sworn by the
clerk of the Court.)

THE COURT: Good norni ng.

MS. KI RKLAND: Good nor ni ng.

M5. MORISI: Good norning.

THE COURT: Whuld the attorneys pl ease
i ntroduce thensel ves and their respective parties.

MS. KI RKLAND: Good norni ng, Your Honor.
Lauri e Kirkland on behalf of the petitioner, |NOVA doing
busi ness as | NOVA Fairfax Hospital.

THE COURT: Al right.

M5. MORISI: Good norning, Your Honor. My nane
is Andrea Morisi, and | represent Yolanda Bell. She is
the sister of the respondent, Anastasia Adans.

THE COURT: Okay. |Is there a third party?

M5. JOHNSTON: Good norni ng, Saben Johnston,
guardian ad litem

THE COURT: Ckay, good nmor ni ng.

Do we have another party involved in this?

MS. KIRKLAND: That's all, Your Honor.

THE COURT: kay.
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MS. KI RKLAND: The respondent, Ms. Adans, has a
guardian ad litem but she's at the hospital. She won't
be present.

THE COURT: Ckay, so ma'am you're the guardi an
ad litemfor --

M5. JOHANSTON: For Ms. Adans, yes.

THE COURT: Ckay.

M5. JOHANSTON: Where would you like nme to sit?

THE COURT: You can sit wherever you are
confortable. This isn't nmy usual courtroom so it's --
wher ever you are confortable, but you have a right to
exam ne folks as well, so if you want to nove up, that's
fine.

M5. JOHNSTON: Ckay.

THE COURT: Al right. 1've let the parties
talk for a while. Wat's the status of this case right
now?

M5. KI RKLAND: Your Honor, on behal f of | NOVA
we're prepared to go forward. This cones on our petition
t o appoi nt guardi ans and conservators for M. Adans.

We have tried to work sonething out with her

sister, Ms. Bell, but right now we have not reached a

Inabnet Court Reporting
(703) 331-0212




© 00 ~N o o b~ w N PP

I T N N N e N e T o e i
N P O © 00 N o U~ W N P O

settl enment.

THE COURT: Al right. |Is there anything we
need to take up prelimnarily before we start with
openi ng statenents?

M5. KIRKLAND: | don't have anything.

M5. MORISI: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Al right, then let's proceed.
Openi ng for | NOVA

M5. JOHNSTON: Thank you, Your Honor.

Again ny nane is Laurie Kirkland. | represent
| NOVA Fairfax Hospital, and this cones on our petition to
appoi nt guardi ans and conservators for a patient at
| NOVA. Her nane is Anastasia Adans, the respondent.

As a professional matter, | don't expect
evi dence to be undi sputed that Ms. Adans | acks capacity.
She suffered anoxic brain injury due to a Tyl enol
overdose in 2005. And currently she is not conmmunicative
and i n bedri dden state.

So the issue before the Court really will be
who is the suitable decision maker for her, given that
she | acks capacity. |INOVA is petitioning for nutual

pr of essi onal guardi ans and conservers to be appoi nted,
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and we have proposed Ken Labowi tz and Anne Hei shnman, who
are two attorneys practicing before the Bar of this
Court. M. Yolanda Bell is the sister and she has got a
cross-petition to be the guardi an.

By way of background, as | nentioned, M. Adans
-- she's a 59-year-old wonan. She suffered a brain
injury due to the | ack of oxygen in 2005. Since 2005
| NOVA does understand that Ms. Bell has been her prinary
caregiver. She also clains to have a power of attorney
that's dated 2010, so five years after the brain injury
had occurred.

But nonet hel ess whet her she's next of kin
maki ng deci sions, or nmaking them-- to a power of
attorney, INOVA feels it's no longer in Ms. Adans' best
I nterest.

I n Decenber of |ast year Ms. Adans was
recei ving treatnent for pneunpnia at | NOVA Loudoun
Hospital. On Decenber 2, 2016, the evidence will show
that Ms. Bell had her sister transferred to I NOVA Fairfax
Hospi tal agai nst nedi cal advice. She was advi sed that
due to on-goi ng pneunpnia, the fever, respiratory

failure, there was no nedi cal reason to transfer her
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after there was a risk. Nonetheless, she was transferred
agai nst nedi cal advi ce.

Upon arrival at Fairfax, she was treated for
pneunoni a by anti-biotics, it was clear. She did devel op
sonme fluid around her heart, but within a few weeks that
al so had been conservatively nmanaged. It was not a
pr obl em

As of Decenber 28, 2016, Ms. Adans was cl eared
by every division at Fairfax Hospital for discharge. The
evidence wll show that since that time, for 50 days, M.
Bell, next of kin or power of attorney, has refused to
renove the status fromthe hospital.

Ms. Adans no | onger requires acute care and
because she doesn't require acute care, Medicare has
deni ed her coverage, and her only other cover is Kaiser
| nsurance, and this is out of plan. M. Bell signs forns
as Ms. Adans power of attorney authorizing those expenses
for which Ms. Adans becones |iable.

The Court will hear fromDr. Betzlos. He is
the chief nedical officer at Fairfax Hospital. He wll
testify that for the past 50 days Ms. Adans has been

stabl e and ready for discharge.
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He will testify he's communicated with Ms. Bel
on mul tiple occasions, including many i n-person neetings,
and spoke to her to address each and every nedi cal
concern she has rai sed about her sister, M. Adans. The
I ssues which -- these are issues Ms. Bell raises that she
al one beli eves prevent discharge.

After 50 days of trying to address Ms. Bell's
medi cal concerns which are ever changing, and are |left
wth no other option but to proceed the petition to
appoi nt a nore suitable guardi an and conservator for Ms.
Adanms who cannot neke these decisions for herself.

Based on the evidence, | NOVA requests the Court
appoi nt Ken Labowi tz and Anne Hei shman, who currently
serve as guardi ans and conservators for nany persons
under the direction and under this Court, and in this
Court as well that a jurisdiction is in order to reach a
-- (unintelligible).

THE COURT: Ckay.

M5. KIRKLAND: Finally, | would note that the
GAL, Ms. Saben Johnston, has also filed with the Court
and reaches the sane conclusion. As you wll see from

her report from her today, she concludes that M. Bel
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clearly loves and cares for her sister very nuch, but

ri ght now has been unable to nake the decision necessary
to di scharge her fromthe hospital and find a suitable
pl ace for her to receive the appropriate |evel of care.

For these reasons we wl | ask that the Court
grant the petition to appoint neutral guardi ans and
conservators for Ms. Adans.

THE COURT: Ckay, counsel, what is the | egal
st andar d?

MS. KI RKLAND: Your Honor, the petition is
filed under Virginia Code 64-2000, there's a Code
chapter; 2007 will give you the seven factors that you
woul d consi der today.

THE COURT: |Is that 64.2 or 64 --

MS. KI RKLAND: 64. 2- 2007.

THE COURT: kay.

MS. KIRKLAND: And there's seven factors the
Court can consider. The one notation for the respondent,
t he devel opnent of the respondent, the availability of
|l ess restrictive alternatives, the extent is necessary to
protect the respondent from negl ect and abuse. The

actions needed to be taken by a guardian and a
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conservator, the suitability of the proposed guardi ans
and conservators and the best interests of the
respondent .

THE COURT: | see, okay. Thank you very nuch

MS. KI RKLAND: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Al right, counsel, opening
st at enent .

M5. MORISI: Thank you, Your Honor.

There's no di sagreenent that Ms. Anastasia
Adans is a person with profound disabilities. And due to
those disabilities it's easy for an inbal ance in any one
of her systens, via cardiac, pul nonary, vascul ar,
di gesti ve; anything that goes out of bal ance can cause a
critical nmedical issue with this wonan. And when a
speci ali st works on addressing one area, they often put
another area into an inbalance. And there's a |ikelihood
that this becones a repeating cycle.

Ms. Yol anda Bel | di sagreed with | NOVA Fai rf ax
Hospi tal that her sister has been stable for discharge
back in |l ate Decenber or early January of this year
because it was a hasty di scharge from Reston | NOVA

Hospital to a Potomac Falls nursing hone that was
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unprepared and unsafe that resulted in the need for her
to be readmtted to | NOVA Fai rf ax.

At the tinme that | NOVA Fairfax has been tal king
about di scharge, there's been on-goi ng nmedi cal issues
w th her heart, her lungs, a |oom ng blood clot, and
t hese have given Ms. Bell concern that again she's going
to have this revol ving door of nedical needs as one thing
gets addressed or doesn't get addressed, and other things
ari se due to the inbal ances in her systens.

Ms. Bell's response to her sister's nedical
Issues is identical to those of a parent or a child. She
desires and reaches out for information. What is going
on with ny sister? What is the course of treatnent?
What's recommended, not recommended? |Is this ny sister's
new normal ? Please help ne to understand that. What
does this nean?

So ironically INOVA Fairfax Hospital so
interested in having Ms. Adams di scharged, actually
ordered all information, except access to nedical records
be denied Ms. Bell. So for nearly a nonth she was not
allowed to talk to doctors to get the information that

they wanted her to have to nake a deci si on on di scharge.
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Ms. Bell has been her sister's caregiver, power
of attorney, the rem nder of her nedical history, her
staunchest advocate for nearly 12 years, and she should
be her guardian if a Court determ nes one is required.
Ms. Bell feels Ms. Adans' nedical condition has inproved,
and that discharge to a safe and appropriate facility or
to her hone is appropriate provided the care and ot her
concerns needed to get her there are addressed.

THE COURT: Al right.

M5. MORISI: She needs continuing nedical care
in whatever facility she goes to or hone, and we're
concerned about those being put in place.

THE COURT: But your client, as | understand
it, does not want her to go back to her honme right now,
she wants her to stay in the hospital, correct?

M5. MORISI: |If discharge can be arranged to a
safe and appropriate place with the assi stance she needs,
she's ready to do that.

THE COURT: Ckay, thank you.

Wul d the GAL |i ke an openi ng statenent?

MS. JOHNSTON: No, Your Honor, | filed a report

yesterday, and they told ne you received it?
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THE COURT: Yes.
M5. JOHNSTON: Ckay, then I'Il reserve ny
statenent for argunent?
THE COURT: Al right, thank you.
All right, INOVA's first wtness.
MS5. KIRKLAND: We call Dr. Scott Betzl os.
(The witness was first duly sworn by the clerk of
the Court.)
Wher eupon,
SCOI'T BETZELGS, M D.,
a wtness, called for exam nation by counsel for the
petitioner, and having been first duly sworn by the clerk
of the Court, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. KI RKLAND:
Q Good norning. Wuld you state your name for
t he record?
A Dr. Scott Betzel os.
Q And what is your current occupation and job
title?
A Chi ef Medical Oficer of |INOVA Fairfax
Hospi t al .
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Q And can you briefly describe your educati onal
backgr ound?

A Sure. | went to Loyola University for coll ege,
and then onto Chi cago Medi cal School to receive ny
nmedi cal degree, and then to Ol ando Regi onal Medi cal
Center where | did ny residency in energency nedicine. |
al so have a naster's degree from Touro Coll ege in New
York in forensic exam nation, and an MBA reci pi ents.

Q And do you hold any Board Certifications?

A | am Board Certified in emergency nedi ci ne.

Q And do you hold a nmedical license in the
Commonweal th of Virginia?

A Yes.

Q And how nmany years of experience do you have as
a physici an?

A From 1989.

Q Do you have any honors or --

A Just Board Certified of the Anerican Col | ege of
Ener gency Physi ci ans.

M5. KIRKLAND: |If | could show this exhibit.
They' re not marked, but Exhibit A
THE COURT: Wy don't we have the docunent
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mar ked just so we could keep track of everything.
MS. KIRKLAND: That's great.
(The docunent referred to above was nmar ked
Petitioner's Exhibit A for
identification.)
BY MS. Kl RKLAND:
Q Dr. Betzelos, is the docunent we just marked as
Exhibit A a copy your CV?
A Yes, it is.
Q And does it accurately reflect your rel evant
educati on and experi ence?
A Yes.
M5. KI RKLAND:  Your Honor, | nove Dr. Betzel os'
CV into evidence.
THE COURT: Any objection?
M5. MORISI: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: The Court will receive a section of
Exhibit. WII that be A or 1, Madam C er k?
THE CLERK: | marked it as A, Your Honor,
that's fine.
THE COURT: Al right.
MS. KI RKLAND: Thank you.
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(The docunent referred to above was marked
Petitioner's Exhibit A for identification
and was received into evidence.)

MS. KIRKLAND: Your Honor, 1'd also like to
offer Dr. Betzelos as an expert in the field of nedicine.
THE COURT: Al right, any objection?

M5. MORISI: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Al right, the Court will recognize
t he doctor as an expert.
MS. KI RKLAND: Thank you.
BY MS. KI RKLAND:
Q Dr. Betzelos, are you famliar with a patient,
Anast asi a Adans?
A Yes, | am
Q Can you descri be her overall physical and
medi cal condition?
A Anastasia suffers from anoxic brain
encephal opat hy. She's unable to conmuni cate and she's
contracted -- her lower extremties are contracted up.
She receives her nutrition through a G Tube, and from a
cardi ovascul ar standpoint she is at a stable condition,

and froma pul nonary standpoint she is in stable
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condi ti on.

Q And based on her condition, does she have the
mental ability to nake or conmmuni cate i nportant decisions
about her health or well -bei ng?

A Absol utely not.

Q And does she have the nental ability to nake or
communi cate i nportant decisions regarding her finances or
her property?

A No.

Q Does she have the sufficient understanding
nature of this proceedi ng regardi ng guardi an or
conser vat or shi p?

A No.

Q And do you hold those opinions to a reasonabl e
degree of nedical certainty?

A Yes.

Q When was Ms. Adams npbst recent adm ssion to
| NOVA Fairfax Hospital ?

A At around the first week of Decenber. |
believe it was the 2nd.

Q And do you know t he reason for her adm ssion?

A She was a transfer from-- | want to say it was
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pneunoni a, and was transferred to our facility agai nst
medi cal advice at the transferring facility, and was

received at our facility.

19

Q And why was the transfer agai nst nedical
advi ce?
A The transfer was agai nst nedi cal advi ce because

anytine you transfer a patient that has an acute
condition, you put themat a greater risk during that
transfer rather than naintain themat the current
facility that they're at. So if the benefit doesn't

outweigh the risk, we generally do not want to transfer

pati ents.
Q And was she transferred agai nst nedi cal advice?
A Yes. According to the records she was

transferred agai nst nmedi cal advice because she wanted --
she said that she -- the priest at Fairfax Hospital and
that's where she wanted to be.
THE COURT: Who is she, sir?
THE WTNESS: |'msorry, M. Bell.
BY MS. KI RKLAND:
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Q Ms. Bell stated the reason for transfer was so
that Ms. Adans woul d be near her priest?

A Yes.

Q And in your experience and in your visits and
your famliarity with Fairfax, have you seen a priest
meet with Ms. Adans?

A Not to ne extent, no.

Q After admi ssion to I NOVA Fairfax, did | NOVA

successfully treat Ms. Adams' pneunoni a?

A Yes, we did successfully treat the pneunoni a.
Q And how was she treated?
A She was treated with IV anti-biotics foll owed

by oral anti-biotics. She also had devel oped a smal |
amount of fluid around the heart, around the pericardi al
effusion. That's the sack that surrounds the heart, and
that fluid was due to the inflanmmation that you get from
pneunoni a, and that fluid subsequently has resol ved, and
so now we treated the pneunonia. W also treated the
secondary facts of pneunonia with specific pericardial
ef f usi on.

Q And around what tinme was the pneunonia and the

pericardi al effusion treated?
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A Through the tinmeframe of two weeks of Decenber.
Q And did there cone a time when Ms. Adans was
stabl e and ready for discharge?
A Yes.
Q Appr oxi mat el y when was t hat?
A That was on or around Decenber 28th. The
medi cal team whi ch included cardi ac speci alists,
pul nmonol ogi sts, infectious di sease, henatol ogy all
concl uded that Anastasia was stable for discharge to an
appropriate level of care; specifically a SNF unit.
THE COURT: To where, sir?
THE WTNESS: To a skilled nursing facility, a
nur si ng hone.
BY MS. Kl RKLAND:
Q And why hasn't Ms. Adanms not |eft | NOVA Fairfax

Hospital to be transferred to one of those hones.

A Ms. Adans is not approving discharge for
Anast asia --
Q You nean Ms. Bell ?
A |'"msorry, Ms. Bell has not approved di scharge

of Anastasia to an appropriate |l evel of care claimng

that we have not answered her questions regarding the
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care that we provided.
Q And have you net personally with Ms. Bell?
A Yes, | have.
Q How many tinmes woul d you estinmate that you had

spoken to her?

A | think Ms. Bell and | spoke at |east two
times, or maybe three, | can't renmenber.

Q And were those in-person neetings?

A They were in-person neetings, yes.

Q And in addition, you have other positions than

I n-comuni cations wth her?

A Every day.

Q Are you aware of any physician that has been
ordered not to speak to Ms. Bell?

A No, no. Wat that is about, we asked Ms. Bell
to only comruni cate with our physicians during regul ar
busi ness hours. She has a habit of pagi ng physicians in
the |l ate hours of the night, past 11:00 in the evening
and di sturbi ng the physici ans.

Q Can you descri be generally your experience in
dealing with Ms. Bell in order to obtain her

aut hori zation for discharge?
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A Say that again?

Q Sure. Can you descri be your experience in
dealing with Ms. Bell in trying to address her concerns
or obtain her authorization to discharge Ms. Adans?

A Ms. Bell no doubt | oves her sister and cares
for her deeply. She has many, nmnany nedi cal questi ons.
Sone of it are relevant, sone of it are not. W as a
medi cal team have attenpted to answer every single one of
her questions; however, we never are able to answer her
questions to the answer that she wants to hear.

So when we say that the pericardial effusion,
the fluid around the heart, will go away, Ms. Bell wll
ask for anot her echocardi ogram or ask for another consult
or ask for a different opinion, and this gets into what
we call circular conversation around what is already
deened by the care teamas a stable pericardial effusion
that will resolve on its own. That's just one exanpl e.

And she gets into the nedical record and asks

questions and says well, there's a millimeter difference
here, a mllineter difference there, and we tell her that
that doesn't -- that's just a nornal thing, you don't

have to worry about that kind of thing, and that doesn't
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satisfy her; so she says we don't answer her questions
when we actually do and say that's not a nedical concern.

Q And in addition to nedical concerns, has she
rai sed any issues relating to nutrition or food?

A Yes. She has brought in G tube feedings that
wer e backing up into Anastasia's roomthat the nurses had
put in there and they keep putting themin there instead
of using them-- they used them and then bring extras in
just to have on the side.

Q Just for the Court's background, can you
expl ain what the concerns Ms. Bell bought to you was?

A She was concerned that we were not feeding
Anast asia, that we were just putting the bags of food
that go into the Gtube in the room and the nurses were
not feeding Anastasia. And the nurses were, they were
just bringing in extra in the roomto have to be nore
efficient.

Q And to your know edge has Ms. Adans received
t he proper food package recommended by a nutritionist?

A Yes.

Q WAs anot her issue that she raised or a request

for percussion therapy for Ms. Adans?
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A Oh, yes, that is true. But can | get back to
t he G tube?

Q Sure, absol utely.

A Al so during our conversation Ms. Bell brought
in an expired product of G Tube feedings, and | was very
concerned about that because we actually don't want to
give expired food to patients. And | had the | ot nunber
revi ewed by our spy chain, and that | ot nunber was never
purchased by | NOVA Fairfax health system

Q So to your know edge based on your personal
research, | NOVA was not giving expired food to Ms. Adans?

A Ri ght, that | ot nunber was never purchased by
| NOVA Fairfax health system

Q W were just noving to the issue of percussion
therapy. |Is that another concern that Ms. Bell had
rai sed?

A Yes, it is.

Q And what is percussion therapy?

A Percussion therapy is bed-ridden patients --
you can nany times see physicians take their hand and
punp on the patient's chest and back. And what that does

iIs it |oosens up nucus phlegmwthin the chest.
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Q | s percussion therapy a treatnent currently
ordered by any of Ms. Adans' attendi ng physicians?

A It's not ordered, but the respiratory
t herapi sts are doing that.

Q And do you know why they are doing that?

A At the request of Ms. Bell.

Q Are you aware of any standard of care that
requires that therapy?

A ' mnot aware of any standard of care that
requi res chest percussion therapy.

Q And to a reasonabl e degree of nedical certainty
what is your opinion as to why she requires that therapy
at this tine?

A It's added to therapy, not required.

Q How has Ms. Bell's insistence that her sister
recei ve that therapy hinder INOVA efforts in finding an
appropriate facility to which she could be di scharged?

A You know, we have several skilled nursing
facilities in the area we can speak with case nanagenent,
but I think it's greater than 15, and all of them do not
do chest percussion therapy.

Q And so as her insistence on percussion therapy
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preventing di scharge?

A It's one of the reasons that it's preventing us
from di schar gi ng.

MS. KIRKLAND: | think then, Your Honor, |
mar ked this as Exhibit B.
THE COURT: Yes.

(Wher eupon, a document was presented to the Court
and the w tness.)

(The docunent referred to above was nmar ked
Petitioner's Exhibit B for
identification.)

BY MS. Kl RKLAND:

Q Dr. Betzel os, having you | ook at Exhibit B,
which are Ms. Adans' nedical records fromyesterday. Do
these records in Exhibit B accurately reflect her current
medi cal condition?

A Yes, they do.

Q | would like to direct your attention to the
section titled, Plan, on the first page. As of yesterday
whi ch division at | NOVA Fairfax Hospital cleared Ms.
Adans for discharge?

A It says here that patient is cleared for
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di scharge by henmatol ogy, infectious disease, cardi ol ogy,
pul nronary, nephrol ogy and internal nedicine.

Q And are you aware of anything that's changed
bet ween yesterday and this norning?

A No, |I'm not aware of anything that changes
t hat .

Q And are you aware of any nedi cal provider who
has seen and treated Ms. Adans and does not believe she

has been ready for discharge since Decenber?

A No, | am not.
Q And how | ong has she been stable for discharge?
A About - -

THE COURT: About how | ong?
THE W TNESS: About a nonth and a half. Since
Decenber 28.
BY MS. KI RKLAND:
Q Ckay, so about 50 days?
A Yes.
Q Since the --
A And there was a snall epi sode where she spi ked
a fever and was given anti-biotics again, but that could

have been done in a nursing hone as well.

Inabnet Court Reporting
(703) 331-0212




© 00 ~N o o b~ w N PP

I T N N N e N e T o e i
N P O © 00 N o U~ W N P O

29

Q So in the past 50 days not hi ng has occurred
t hat could not have been treated suitably in a skilled
nursing facility?

A Correct.

Q Since the date of her discharge in Decenber,
2016, has Medi care been covering her stay?

A Medi care has not covered her stay since she was
cleared for discharge on Decenber 28. M. Bell has
appealed twice to the QAPI, the Quality Assurance Program
for Center Medicare and Medicaid Services, CMS, and they
have deni ed her appeal twi ce indicating that Anastasia is
stabl e for discharge.

Q And during this tinme in the past 50 days, what
percent of beds at | NOVA Fairfax Hospital have been full?
A We're in a busy season. W're at 95-plus

capacity every single day.

Q And why is that inportant?

A | NOVA Fairfax Hospital is a |evel -one trauna
center. The only one in northern Virginia, and we have
obligations to serve our comunity, and we have patients
t hrough our energency departnent and care for patients as

they are admtted. W have patients that are occupying a
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bed that are not suppose to occupy a bed and are
appropriate for an alternative level of care. |It's
comprom sing our ability to treat patients that are
presented with acute conditions.

Q Dr. Betzelos, are you aware that this
proceeding is to appoint neutral professional guardi ans

and conservators for Ms. Adans?

A Yes.

Q And you support that petition?

A Yes, | do.

Q And why do you support it?

A W believe that -- the care team believes that

and | NOVA Fairfax Hospital believes that Anastasia Adans
is stable for discharge and Ms. Bell is preventing that
di scharge and conprom sing the care of Anastasia wth
that bl ocking us frombeing able to transfer Anastasia to
an appropriate |evel of care.

Q And in your nedical opinion, what is the
appropriate treatnent for Ms. Adans at this tine?

A At this time is transfer to a | ower |evel of
care, to a SNF facility.

Q And in your opinion that a neutral professional
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guardi an would be able to facilitate that placenent?

A Yes, it is.

Q And why do you believe that?

A Because | have had multiple conversations -- |
believe Ms. Bell and | net for an hour, along with her
attorney, and a nunber of people to try to resolve this
at the hospital. That did not work. | don't believe
that Ms. Bell will allow us to discharge Anastasia
regardl ess of the nedical condition that she is in.

Q And at this tine do you believe there is any
| ess restrictive alternative that would be in Ms. Adans'
i nterests?

A No.

MS. KIRKLAND: | have no further questions.
THE COURT: Cross-exam nation.
M5. MORISI: Thank you, Your Honor.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY M5, MORI Sl :

Q Doctor, you spoke about the percussion therapy.
This is very inportant, as you know, to Ms. Adanms. |Is
there any risk -- well, what are the risks from

per cussi ve t herapy?
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A There are no risks to perform percussion
t her apy.

Q Ckay. Are there benefits?

A There are benefits, as | indicated earlier,
that it can hel p reduce mucus phl egm

Q In a person who's bed ridden or has
constrictors such as Ms. Adans?

A Yes, but it's added to therapy, it's not a
standard of care.

Q Al right.

(Wher eupon, a docunent was presented to the Court
and counsel .)

THE COURT: Counsel, how would you like this
docunment marked? Since we're going with the al phabet why
don't we just say Respondent's A? Does that work good?

M5. MORISI: Intervener A?

THE COURT: Oh, Intervener A, okay. Madam
Clerk, what's easier for you?

(Di scussion off the record not reported by the court
reporter.)
(The docunent referred to above was nmar ked

| ntervener's Exhibit A for
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identification.)

BY M5, MORI Sl :

Q Doctor, do you recognize this as an extra
report summary fromthe record to Anastasia Adans at
| NOVA Hospital ?

A Yes, | do.

Q And in the center there where the large circle
is, which -- not that it didn't cone on the report that
way, but those | arge spikes, could you tell us what that
I ndi cat es?

A Well, the top graph is the vital signs, and it
| ooks to be -- | think you got heart rate here and pul se
oxi netry, and at one point the heart rate spi ked to 200,
and then dropped to zero, and this is an initial spike,
and nost likely related to sone type of novenent in the
string of vital signs. It's not uncommobn to see
sonething |like this.

Q And does it streamas that fromthe upper range
to the | ower range, and that appears to be over a 10-hour
period on January 9th?

A Right. Fromwhat |'m guessing, you printed a

very condensed piece here, and | think at sonetine
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between 7-ish, but that's if it was bigger. A lot of
things are -- so | could see exactly what it was and it
wasn't just an initial spike. It could be that there was
an epi sode of tachycardia, a very fast heart rate which
can happen, but | really can't tell you which it is
unl ess you expand this out. But | do know that Anastasia
di d have an epi sode of tachycardia at some point in
January, so if that's what this is, that's what it is.

Q | think that m ght be one exanple of it; didn't
find themall in the strings, those tapes. And I
apol ogi ze that it appears even though ny printer says it
has all the ink levels, |I know the colors are not right
because INOVA is not red, it should be bl ue.

But bel ow you said the other, the | ower graph

was on -- is that oxygen saturation?

A No, | think that the oxygen saturation is built
in --

Q Ch, I'"'msorry.

A -- top graph.

Q It's in the top graph.

A And that's an interesting thing that you bring

up is because the oxygen saturation was absol utely nornal
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when the heart rate is supposedly zero, and that can't
happen, so that tells ne that's an artifact.

Q Ckay. But it did dip belowright after that,
didn't it?

A Yeah, but it wouldn't take that long. |If your
heart rate went to zero, your oxygenation goes to zero in
two mnutes. After the fact it goes way | ow before that,
and, you know, | don't see any change in the oxygen
saturation, and the high spike before it went up, which
means it could have been a stable tachycardia. And the
bott om graph --

Q Do you think this is the nonitor alarns?

A These are the al arns, yeah.

Q On the equipnent that's in her roonf

A Yes, and that's not uncommon either. These
alarns go off all the tinme. They actually cause al arm
fatigue to our providers.

Q This past weekend Ms. Adans suffered froma | ow
oxygen saturation?

A Yes, that is true.

Q And what woul d be the causes from | ow oxygen

saturati on?
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A Ri ght. Patients that have hypoxia or | ow
oxygen events that are bid ridden nore than |ikely suffer
fromeither a recurrent infection or a blood clot in the
| ung call ed pul nonary enbol i sm

The physicians imediately identified this and
ordered a CT angiogram that's a CT scan of the heart and
| ungs where we inject dye and | ook for blood clots. And
t hat exam reveal ed that there were no bl ood clots and no
further pneunoni a.

Q And during the tines that Ms. Adans suffers
from| ow oxygen saturation, what would it be |ike for
someone who -- is that |like us having a chest cold where
we are not getting full oxygen in our lungs. Wat would
you say how the synptons woul d be?

A You know, people |ike us that have norna
physi ol ogy that suffer fromthat, we would have the sane
physi ol ogy barrier to prevent us from breathing. But
peopl e that are bed ridden, their swallow reflex doesn't
work as well as us, and therefore they may swal | ow saliva
i nstead of going down the swelling tube, the esophagus,
It goes down the trachea and cause a tenporary pluggi ng

of one the alveoli in the lung, and that would cause an
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hypoxi a event. Does that make sense?
Q Yes, | understand. Thank you for the
physi ol ogy di scussion. | neant what woul d she be | ooking

i ke, would she be in distress, would she be coughi ng,
choki ng, sonething |like that?

A It all depends upon the neurol ogical status of
the patient; you and I, yes. Anastasia, |'mnot quite
sure based on her neurol ogical status, but ny guess is
that she woul d have sone type of display of a very, very
-- a neurol ogical display of pain.

Q And what is the treatnment for | ow oxygen

saturation, that's what you call it?
A Well, the initial treatnent is oxygen, and then
t he diagnostics will detail out to what the further

treatnment is. And in this case the CI Scan does not
reveal any abnornality that requires to do any additional
treat nent.

Q Wul d an incident such as she had this past
weekend | ead to an order for her to have oxygen on an as-
needed basis or on a regul ar basi s?

A Oxygen therapy is not always the best thing.

You want to use it judiciously and when it's appropriate,
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so if you' re oxygenating well, there is really no need to
provi de oxygen on an on-going basis, and can actually
hurt. So what we want to do is order oxygen during
events or preceding events that we believe are going to
cause | ow oxygen

M5. MORISI: Thank you. | have no further
questi ons.

THE COURT: Al right. Coss-examnation with

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MB. JOHNSTON:

Q Ms. Bell had a few other concerns that she had
addressed. One of those was related to the weight of her
sister. How did I NOVA address that, those questions?

A Well, we've been follow ng her weight, and it's
our opinion that she's back to her baseline weight, and
we are continuing to feed her through her G Tube diet
with the appropriate hydration.

Q And al so at the neeting there was concerns
regarding a blood clot by her sister. How did | NOVA
address that?

A We addressed that through ultra-sounds of her
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ri ght upper armextremty, and the ultra-sound shows that
the blood clot is resolving and bl ow fl ow has returned,
and t he henatol ogi st has ordered a | ow dose of Lovenox,
which is a blood thinner to help prevent further bl ood
clots.

Q What was the purpose of the January 28th
nmeeti ng? Wat was the goal at that neeting?

A The goal of the neeting was to -- the care
provi ders had exhausted all possibilities of having a
conversation around discharge with Ms. Bell. And the
goal of that was to set up this neeting so that we could
all gather together, address the concerns, answer the
questions that were asked to the best of our ability, and
t hen hopefully bring Ms. Bell to the decision that
Anast asi a was stabl e for discharge.

Q And did you tell Ms. Bell that her sister was
stabl e for discharge?

A | assured Ms. Bell that the infectious disease,
t he pul nonol ogi st, the hematol ogi st, internal nedicine
doctor, cardiol ogist had all deened Anastasia stable for
di schar ge.

Q And so what was the response fromNMs. Bell?
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A W had sone nore conversations around the
pericardial effusion. She had sone questions that | was
abl e to answer.

Q And these are subsequent the follow ng day she
had further questions?

A Yeah, there's sone nultiple enails after that
that | answered through the attorneys, | believe.

Q And with that regardi ng an echocardi ogram and
were there any concerns about fungal infection?

A The fungal infection was in Anastasia's nouth,
and the infectious di sease specialist believed that is
being treated with Nystatin, that is an anti-fungal
liquid, and al so they believed, based on nedical records,
that that is because Anastasia's nouth is chronically
open, and you get that filmthat goes over your tongue,
when you keep breat hing through your nouth.

Q And so you responded to Ms. Bell's questions
t hen?

A | responded through the attorneys.

Q And then what was Ms. Bell's response after
that? D d she have anynore questions that --

A | did not receive any further questions, via
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email, fromMs. Bell.
M5. JOHANSTON: Thank you. | don't have any
further questions.
THE COURT: Any redirect?
MS. KI RKLAND: Yes, Your Honor.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. Kl RKLAND:

Q Dr. Betzelos, the incident of tachycardia in
January, is that sonething that would have al erted you
that Ms. Adans needed to remain in the hospital ?

A The epi sode of tachycardi a, depending on its
i deol ogy, which was investigated, resulted in the fact
t hat Anastasia renmains stable for discharge.

Q And t he cardiol ogi st who treated her agreed
w th that opinion?

A Yes, we do.

Q And the oxygen issue that just happened over
t he weekend we're discussing, is that sonething that a
skilled nursing facility could have addressed just as
wel | ?

A Yes.

M5. KIRKLAND: | have no further questions,

41
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Your Honor.
THE COURT: Al right. |1s the doctor subject
torecall, or is free to go back to work?
M5. KIRKLAND: He's free to go.
M5. MORISI: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Al right. Doctor, you are free to
| eave. Thank you for com ng in today.
THE W TNESS: Sure.
(Wtness excused.)
THE COURT: Counsel, your next w tness?
MS. KI RKLAND:  Your Honor, | call Anita Hall.
THE COURT: Ckay.
(Wher eupon, the witness was duly sworn by the clerk
of the Court.)
Wher eupon,
ANI TA HALL,
a wtness, called for exam nation by counsel for the
petitioner, and having been first duly sworn by the clerk
of the Court, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. KI RKLAND:

Q Good norning. Wuld you state your full nane
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A My nane is Anita Hall.

Q And where are you currently enpl oyed?

A | NOVA Fai rfax Hospital

Q And what is your job title?

A dinical Case Manager.

Q And can you briefly describe your job duties.
A | help in reviewing the charts of discharged

patients; identify and address barriers to di scharge and

hel p in that di scharge pl anni ng.

43

Q And how many years of experience do you have in

positions performng the title of duties?

A Two years in case nanagenent, and prior to that
| was a nurse also to help discharge patients.

Q And are you famliar with | NOVA s di scharge
pl anning efforts for INOVA's Fairfax's Hospital s patient
Anast asi a Adans?

A Yes, | am

Q And have you been involved in sone of the
di schar ge pl anni ng?

A Yes, | have.

Q And has | NOVA contacted an skilled nursing
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facilities to inquire as to whether they would accept M.
Adans?

A Yes, over 20.

Q And when Ms. Adans was di scharged back in
Decenber to May of 2016, had INOVA |ined up an
appropriate skilled nursing facility to accept her?

A Yes.

Q And which facility was that?

A Gai nesvill e Heal th and Rehab.

Q And was this communicated to Ms. Bell?

A W attenpted to communi cate with her, yes, by
nessages.

THE COURT: Ma'am what is it called,

Gai nesvill e what ?

THE WTNESS: (Gainesville Health and Rehab.

THE COURT: And that was referred to as a
skilled --

M5. KIRKLAND: A skilled nursing facility. You
may have to speak up and into the m crophone to be heard
alittle better.

THE COURT: Thank you.

BY MS. KI RKLAND:
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Q | believe your |ast response was that you
attenpted to communicate with Ms. Bell. Wat do you nean
att enpt ed?

A We nmade nunerous phone calls to her and | eft
nmessages for her to call us back in response to the
acceptance of a facility.

Q And did you hear back from her?

A No.

Q Coul d Gainesville Health and Rehab hold the bed
for Ms. Adans indefinitely?

A No, they cannot, because they have ot her
pati ents that al so need those beds, so if we do not get a
clear indication of their acceptance by a fam |y menber,

t hey cannot hold a bed.

Q And since that tinme how many nursing facilities
has | NOVA contacted wth respect to Ms. Adans?

A Over 20.

Q And anong these facilities, did | NOVA cont act
any for which Ms. Bell had expressed a -- (inaudible).

A Yes, we did.

Q And in the past 50 days, have any of these

facilities indicated they can accept Ms. Bell?
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A. Yes.

Q And has Ms. Bell authorized di scharge to any of

A No.
Q Can the facility's ability to accept M. Adans’

change on a daily basis?

A Yes, it can.

Q And why is that?

A The question again, |I'msorry.

Q What did it change day to day?

A Dependi ng on the bed availability.

Q Did there cone a tine when you | earned that M.
Bel |l woul d not consent to discharge unless the facility
woul d provi de percussion therapy?

A Yes, | did becone aware of that.

Q And is it your understanding that therapy is
not ordered as necessary by a physician?

A Yes, that is ny understandi ng.

Q Nonet hel ess, did I NOVA search for a facility
that provide that treatnent at Ms. Bell's request?

A We did try.

Q And were any of the 20 facilities contacted
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able to provide that therapy?

A | do not believe so. | think one may have said
they would try, but they would need to be trained.

Q And are -- based on your experience do you
beli eve a neutral professional guardian would be able to
facilitate this discharge process?

A Yes, | do.

Q And why is that?

A Because we have been unable to get Ms. Bell to
participate in transferring her sister or assist in this
transfer.

Q Are you aware of any other objections the
facilities may have in accepting Ms. Adans?

A No.

Q So the only inpedinent to her transfer has been
Ms. Bell's inability to authorize the transfer?

A Yes.

MS. KIRKLAND: | have no further questions.
THE COURT: Cross-exam nation by the
i nt ervener?
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY M. MORI SI:
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Q Good norning, Ms. Hall.

A Good nor ni ng.

Q Ms. Bell had indicated that she had a
preference for a facility in Manassas call ed Bi rm ngham
G een.

A That's correct.

Q Dd a bed recently becone avail abl e at
Bi r m ngham G een?

A Not to ny know edge.

Q Ckay. Were they one of the facilities who said
they couldn't do percussion therapy?

A They had.

Q Ckay. To what was it Gainesville rehab
facility that said they could train soneone to do?

A | would have to re-look at ny notes to be for
sure.

Q Ckay. How often do you talk to Ms. Bell?

A Well, Ms. Bell has cone late in the evenings,
and not during the day, so it's been hard to contact her
and have a direct conversation with her. But our soci al
wor ker has also tried to phone -- (unintelligible) and

have tal ked to her a couple of tines.
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Q Ckay. Wuld they give her a status as to what
facilities were being reached out to and --
A Yes, they have.
Q -- you know, we have a bed avail abl e?
A Yes.
Q Ckay. Thank you.
M5. MORISI: | have no further questions.
THE COURT: Cross-exam nation by the guardian
ad litenf
M5. JOHNSTON: | don't have anything further.
THE COURT: Any redirect?
MS. KI RKLAND: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Al right. 1Is the witness free to
| eave?
MS. KIRKLAND: She is, but she is also here for
the clients.
THE COURT: Ckay. Al right, Ms. Hall, you can
have a seat next to counsel.
Your next w tness, counsel?
MS. KI RKLAND:  Your Honor, | have no further
W t nesses.

THE COURT: Al right. So is there anynore
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evi dence you wi sh to present?
M5. KIRKLAND: No, the petitioner would rest,
Your Honor.
THE COURT: Does the intervener have any
evi dence in which she would |ike to present?
M5. MORISI: Yes, I'd like to call M. Bell.
THE COURT: Al right.
(Wher eupon, the witness was duly sworn by the clerk
of the Court.)
Wher eupon,
YOLANDA BELL,
a wtness, called for exam nation by counsel in her own
behal f, and havi ng been first duly sworn by the clerk of
the Court, was exanmined and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY M. MORI SI:
Q Ms. Bell, would you introduce yourself to the
Court, and tell the Judge a little bit about yourself.
A My nane is Yol anda Bell. | am Anastasia Adans
younger sister, ny baby sister, the youngest of four. W
had two ol der brothers but one passed in '92. Qur other

brother actually resides here, ny brother Charles resides
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here within the area.

| was the typical little sister always wanted
to tag after ny sister, begging ny nother to nmake her
take me with her. | wanted to be just |like her. | have
al ways | ooked up to ny sister.

I n June of 2005 -- well, actually prior to that
ny sister had beconme disabled. Not in the sense that she
is now, but she had a condition called Lycosidae C assic
Vasculitis, which is an inflammtion of the bl ood
vessel s, and can be extrenely painful.

It's an autoi nmune di sorder and can be caused
by -- or it's within Lupus famly | should say, or it can
al so be the synptons caused by an allergic reaction to a
nmedi cati on which the -- eventually found out that that's
what was causing it.

There was a nedi cation that she was taki ng was
causi ng sone sort of a reaction within her system
because since she stopped taking those nedications in
2005 she hasn't had a flare-up or anything |like that.

And so in 2003 she had an episode with the
Vasculitis, so she ended up with a blood infection and

ended up in the hospital in Arizona.
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And at that time she actually nade nme her power
of attorney in 2003 because she -- since we had al ready
lost -- ny parents had already lost a child, that that
wasn't a decision she wanted to put on ny parents, so she
asked ne being the youngest | would do that, and since |
was actually the one who cared for her, and ny ol dest
br ot her passed away in 1992.

Q Do you want to tell us about her accident that
resulted in this?

A In June of 2005, she suffered an acci dental
acet am nophen overdose. The doctors in California
weren't comuni cating with one another and they had her
on various different nedications. And at |east one of
t he nedi cati ons, Vicodin, had acetam nophen in it, and
when she started spiking a fevers, they told her to take
Tyl enol on top of that for the fevers.

And what happened is that it built up in her
system and her liver went toxic and she went into
multiple organ failure and respiratory failure and
cardi ac arrest.

She was transferred to a hospital in San

Franci sco, and because they initially thought she was
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going to need a liver transplant, but all of that,
everyt hi ng subsequent over her tine in the hospital,
bounced back.

She had been incubated for 14 days, but bounced
back fromthat. Everything was perfect when she was
rel eased fromthe hospital. She was wal ki ng, she was
tal ki ng, she was cooki ng her own breakfast.

The baseline that the hospital, that | NOVA
seens to think is her baseline now, was not her baseline
wth the brain injury. That becane subsequent in 2007
when she actually wound up in a wheelchair again due to a
Virginia doctor this tine had given her. That gave her
|l ong termthat was not supposed to be given for that

specific length of tine.

Q Ckay.
A And so --
Q So in 2007 she cane to the situation of reduced
nobility?
A She was in a wheel chair, yes.
She was still speaking, although |ess

frequently at that time, because we woul d have

conversati ons where she described it Iike a veil com ng
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over her when this would happen. And so subsequently,
eventual |y she ended up to where she started havi ng he
contractions and all. Because even at that tinme when she
was first in the wheelchair, there were tines she was

wal ki ng with her wal ker, versus the -- in the wheel chair,
and she was speaking herself. | nean, she still does

t hat occasionally to this day. She has nonents of
conplete lucidity to where she will talk to you. She
will tell you everything that's been going on in the | ast
two weeks, and she was able to feed herself.

Q Ckay. I n 2010 you sought out |egal counsel for
your sister to execute a durable nedical power of
attorney in advance, nedical directive.

A Ri ght .

M5. MORISI: That was included wth an
I ntravenous petition, Your Honor.

BY M. MORI SI:

Q Can you give us the background that you had
executed that?

A Yes, like | said previously, ny sister had in
2003, and then again in the beginning of 2005 before the

brain injury, had effected two power of attorneys naking

Inabnet Court Reporting
(703) 331-0212




© 00 ~N o o b~ w N PP

I T N N N e N e T o e i
N P O © 00 N o U~ W N P O

55

me her -- both, the first health power of attorney that
she did we were told by soneone that -- ny parents had
actually wtnessed that one, and they said because they
were famly that that wasn't necessarily valid. So the
begi nni ng of 2005, | believe January or February, ny
sister -- we went down and had anot her set done, both a
heal th power of attorney and a durable power of attorney

for property and finances done and notarized along with a

living will.

Q Is that the docunent that you presented to the
hospital ?

A No, that one was -- | believe it was February

or actually could have been May of 2005, but it was
before her injury. Whatever tine it was that year that I
actually visited, and I can't renenber exactly. 1|'d have
to go back and pull those docunents out.

Q What is the |atest one?

A The |l atest one is the one in June of 2005. So
what we did was, we brought those and along with ny
sister here in Virginia, because like | said she was
still having nonents where she could talk to you. She

knew what was going on, and we took it to an el der |aw
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attorney in Manassas. And they cane out, they spoke with
nmy sister. They had actually seen her nore than once, |
bel i eve, and explained to her and she | et them know t hat
she under st ood what was going on. They also | ooked at
t he previous power of attorneys that she had executed,
and ny assunption is that they took that into
consi deration as well, but |I can't speak for them
M5. MORISI: Your Honor, may | have the bailiff
present or may | approach?
THE COURT: Yes, you can approach, counsel.

Thank you for asking.

(Wher eupon, a document was presented to the
W t ness.)

BY M5, MORI Sl :

Q This is the one | was referring to. Do you
recall that one?

A Yes, | do. This is the one from 2005 that was
done here in Virginia.

Q Whul d you check the date on the back of it,
pl ease?

A This was April 2, 2010.

Q Ckay. So is this the docunent that was
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execut ed where they cane down to the car?

A Yes.

Q You were just saying they canme down and net
with her?

A Yes.

Q Ckay.

A The reason why they cane down to the car is

because this particular office doesn't have a ranp or
anything to take her inside. |It's a series of about 10
or 12 steps, and that's a little bit nore than | can
carry her up in a wheel chair.

Q And so that -- could you review that? That was
W t nessed?

A Yes, it was witnessed by two individuals that I
guess were al so worked out of the sane building or the

sane law firm

Q Ckay.
A Carla -- excuse ne, | can't -- Angie. Carlais
the one that was the notary, and Marie Wods, | believe

is her |ast nane.
Q Ckay. So it was wtnessed and notari zed?

A Yes, w tnessed and notari zed.

Inabnet Court Reporting
(703) 331-0212




© 00 ~N o o b~ w N PP

I T N N N e N e T o e i
N P O © 00 N o U~ W N P O

58

Q Ckay. And so your sister's condition now. How

woul d you say your sister's condition is now?

A What do you nean?
Q Today.
A She is better than what she was when she was

initially admtted into | NOVA Fairfax. As far as her --
she's not at what her baseline was before she entered the
hospi t al

Q What is her baseline? Wat would you say is
her baseline?

A Her baseline is that ny sister is alert. M
si ster understands everything that you say to her. She
may not necessarily be able to communi cate back with you
at specific tinmes, but she understands everything that is
goi ng on, and she does conmuni cate via expressi ons.
She'll blink once for yes, twice for no. She wll nod
her head, and her weight is drastically less than what it
was fromwhat the normal weight is. The normal weight is
approximately 120 to 125 pounds, and she appears gaunt,
but she does | ook better than she did when she was
adm tted.

Q All right. Wy did you disagree with the
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di scharge in Decenber and January and early February?

A | initially disagreed with the discharge
because | felt that ny sister was still at risk. Wen
they initially came with the discharge at the end of
Decenber, she had a very large pericardial effusion. It
wasn't small; it wasn't mnor, and it was henodynam c
i nvol vermrent, neaning that it's pushing on one of the
ventricles of the heart so you' re not getting full bl ood
flow And that is listed in their actual echocardi ogram
that they did on the 21st.

It nentions that it was |arger on the backsi de.
| " mconfused with the understanding of the terns
interiors; sonetines maybe that's fromthe back, but
whi chever side that is pointing to, and that one of the
ventricles of her heart was not filling fully because of
this. And when that happens you have fainting, you're
not getting sufficient oxygenated bl ood flow ng through
your body.

And so that was a concern, that and the DBT,
the blood clot that she had in her upper right arm was,
at that tine, 12 inches long, and they didn't want to

treat it. | asked why, and they just -- it was Dr.
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Balaji first, and he just said we are not going to treat
it because invasive procedures carry an inherent ri sk,
and | do understand that.

And | did understand why they would not do the
bl ood cl ot because they weren't sure if there was bl ood
in the fluid that was around the heart; and by giving her
a blood thinner that could increase the bleeding, which
makes perfect sense; that's logical. But when | asked
they would not even test the fluid to see if there was
blood init.

And | kept getting different answers and
conflicting answers back and forth about why they woul d
or they wouldn't, and when | asked regarding it can al so
be treated via nedication, Dr. Balaji said he couldn't do
t hat either.

So the only conclusion that | could cone to is
that because -- and this is ny opinion, ny opinion based
upon what | read in the nedical records and conversations
| had with a couple of the doctors, that the reason is
they did not think she had any quality of life. |In fact
there is a statenent in her nedical records by one of the

physicians in the care teamthat he does not believe that
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she would want to live this way.

And | astly, based upon everything that they see
wth nmy sister, the brain injury, the contractions, the
fact that she's in the wheelchair, all of that's been
done by the nedical field, so |I question everything that
doctors tell nme now.

Every nedi cation they give her, | question
because if not for the doctors in California and not
payi ng attention and tal king to each other, they woul dn't
have had her taken the Tylenol on top of it. It wouldn't
have shut her liver down. She wouldn't have ended up
with a brain injury. That's also why she was in the
hospital down there. It wasn't necessarily the Tyl enol
that did it, they gave her the wong nedi cati on when she
was in the hospital, which -- and the day after was the
difference in her nental capacity to where you could see
it, she was child-1ike the next day where she wasn't the
day before.

Q You want your sister to be in the hospital ?
A No, | want ny sister to be honme with ne. MW
sister wants to be at home. So | mss ny sister.

mean, because we stay together. She knows when |'m
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havi ng a hard day. She knows -- excuse ne. She knows if
| had a hard day or if |I'm stressed about sonething. She
has her ways of naking ne |augh. | nean, she'll put a
certain expression on her face where she smles with her
tongue; a specific way sticking her tongue out at ne that
will automatically make ne | augh, because she knows when
there i s sonmething wong.

|' ve devel oped a habit of whenever we're in the
sane roomtogether, or in the house together, that I'm
tal king out loud as to what |' mdoing so she knows where
l"'mat, and I'mincluding her in every single thing that
' m doi ng, every conversation that | am having, or any
deci sions that | am naki ng.

So she knows what's going on. She doesn't know
who Ms. Johnston is, but she knows when she cane in and
read the petition to her. Wen | got there |l ater that
day, ny sister was terrified. She -- and this is the
first tinme she has done this since her hospitalization; |
wal ked in and the room nurse cane in actually right after
me as well and the regular nurses that she's seen pretty
much everyday since she's been there, she literally drew

up and towards ne, and that's the first tinme |I've seen
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her do that in the hospitalization. | nean, because she
gets poked and prodded, she's sonmewhat used to it. No
one likes it, but she's used to it. So, no, | want her
home with ne. That's where she was before. That's where
she's happiest and frankly, that's where she wll get the
best care.

Because at least up until her -- shortly before
this hospitalization or the one in Reston, she had people
comng in. W were on the waiver program and we had
skilled nursing for the skilled respite, we had an RN
that cane in, we also had an aide that cane in during the
week.

So a perfect exanple of the care she gets at
honme versus the care she gets in the hospital or a
skilled nursing facility, ny sister has been in that
wheel chair since 2007, so we're | ooking at ten years.

Up until her hospitalization at Reston or
transferred the rel ease, nmessed up transfer to Potonac
Falls Nursing Facility, ny sister has never had a bed
sore; never had skin break down. My sister was in that
pl ace ten days and within a two-day period cane out wth

a grave bed sore that was about the size of a quarter, to
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where you're down to the white skin and all of that
underneath it, and the red and bl eeding. And | can say
it was within a two-day peri od because that Mnday | had
taken ny sister out for a doctor's appointnent and |I'm
the one that actually cleaned her up and got her dressed.
And on Tuesday and Wednesday | had
appoi ntnents for nyself that | needed to go to because |
had to -- | actually was sleeping at the skilled nursing
facility because the paranedics did not want to | eave ny
sister there because that place was that bad. It did not
feel safe and al nost turned around and took her back to
Reston Hospital, but we were able to gerry-rig sonething
wth the bed to nmake her marginally safer until they
coul d get anot her bed in.

And so on that Tuesday and Wdnesday | had
appoi ntnents. That Thursday is when she wound up in the
enmergency room and went there and she had this quarter-
Ssi ze bed sore.

Q Okay. So your plan ultimately is for her to
return to the hone with you with the care --
A Yes.

Q -- that you just nentioned?
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A Yes.

Q Skill ed and the nurses aides --

A Yes.

Q -- who can attend to her?

A Yes.

Q If there needed to be a stay in a skilled

nursing facility --

A A very brief stay.

Q Ckay, you would agree to the stay in the
nursing facility or --

A Depends on which one, a very brief stay. There
are nursing honmes. | have been researching and dealing
with nursing honmes for the |last 11 years.

Now, there are good and there are sonme that are
really not very good, and based upon the federal -- the
Medi care when they cone in and do their inspections,
there are a few nursing facilities in the area that have
wthin their inspections verified conplaints of patient
abuse, patient neglect and ny sister not being able to
speak for herself at times, or people assum ng that she
doesn't know what's going on around her, because she

cannot push the button or call adm n, she gets negl ected
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or ignored.

There was one particular nursing facility
within the area that when | had to travel on business,
before | retired, they -- what they had done, ny sister
was conpletely sore when | got there, had been obviously
for a while, and they had nedi cated her so nmuch that she
slept for 24 hours.

They do that because as Dr. Balaji says that
the staff becones alarm fatigued, or they al so can becone
fatigued froma patient that is nmaking just noises, and
that is ny sister's way when she is not able to speak
because her voice when she speaks is very low, to get
their attention to let them know that sonething is going
on. And you have to be around her for a while to know
what the difference specific noises nean. Wether or not
she wants to be changed, or she's in pain, or she's
unconfortable, or she just doesn't want to do what you
are asking her to do.

Q Ckay. The percussion therapy; you have been
qui te persistent about it?
A Yes, | have been persistent about the

per cussi on t herapy because she cane into the hospital
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with percussion therapy, chest PT order. She was given
chest PT at Reston Hospital, she was given chest PT at
the nursing facility that she was in. Dr. Baid, B-A-1-D
is the pul nonol ogist at INOVA Fairfax that initially was
seeing ny sister, and he's the one that did the
bronchoscopy that actually cleared all of the gunk out of
her | ungs.

And speaking of that when they did that, ny
sister -- she | ooked so confortabl e when she cane back,
it's like | can breathe again. Looked conpletely at ease
and not in any type of distress, and it's the best [|'ve
seen her in nonths. And he is the one in her initial
order that stated for her to have the chest PT.

And in every progress note whether it be from
pul nonol ogy, infectious di sease or even one of the other
specialties that cane in, all stated continue chest PT.
This is the first order that |I've seen that hasn't had
that in there; the one that was printed yesterday.

Q Okay. Can you just describe for the Court what
this piece of equipnent is?
A It 1s a hand-hel d device approximately 10

inches in dianeter. There's two different types, there's
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an electrical one that plugs into the wall, and then
there's one that works on the hospital roomthere or on
the portable conpressor. And you hold that, and what
that does is it repetitively beats on the area, provides
a percussion, and it has variable speeds. But it iIs nore
than just a back massager type of thing that you work
over the lungs, and it hel ps to | oosen, and hel ps her
nove the mucus to get it out, and it keeps her |left |ower
| obe fromre-coll apsi ng because of the nucus that's in

there. But wthout this, because of the aspiration that

she gets -- it's a small anount over tine; this isn't
sonet hi ng that happens imediately, that it will build up
and it will conpress, it wll collapse again. And

general |y percussion therapy is the only way to prevent
it and get it to open outside of doing an invasive
procedure, |like a bronchoscopy, putting her under
sedation and goi ng down and actually renoving the nucus
itself, suctioning that out.

Q So you woul d say, despite the nmedical -- Dr.
Bal aji saying this wasn't a standard of care, you fee
this is a standard of care for your sister for prolonged

heal t h?
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MS. KI RKLAND: (Obj ection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sust ai ned.

M5. MORISI: Ckay.

THE COURT: She's not an expert. She can't
testify to standard of care unless you establish that she
has sone nedi cal training.

M5. MORISI: Fifteen years of taking care of
her sister since 2005, but --

THE COURT: Counsel, do you have any citation
in the country that woul d support that proposition?

M5. MORISI: No, | respect your decision to --

THE COURT: It's not ny decision. Do you have
any case in the country that would support what you j ust
sai d?

M5. MORISI: No, | don't.

THE COURT: Pl ease proceed.

BY M. MORI SI:

Q The availability events, Ms. Hall tal ked about
availability events. Have you ever been infornmed?

A QG her than the Gainesville bed early on, no,
have not. There's been nunerous conversations goi ng on

bet ween the attorneys, Del egate Marshall and nyself, and

Inabnet Court Reporting
(703) 331-0212




© 00 ~N o o b~ w N PP

I T N N N e N e T o e i
N P O © 00 N o U~ W N P O

70

Maur een and ot her hospital personnel regarding the
situation with ny sister. And we were told -- Del egate
Marshall was told, as | believe --

MS. KIRKLAND: (bjection, hearsay. | believe
she is reporting what Del egate Marshall was tol d.

THE COURT: | sustain the objection.

THE W TNESS: Ckay, |'msorry.

THE COURT: Ma'am | eave out what Del egate
Mar shal | may have spoken with sonebody about.

THE WTNESS: Ckay, | was told that -- or | was
not told -- I was told that a bed at Birm ngham Green had
cone avail able, but after the fact, it had been given
away, and so | had no know edge that this bed was
avai |l abl e because had that bed -- had |I known that that
bed was available at that tine, that is ny chosen
facility because it's closer to where we live, it is
closer to our church, and to where nore people could cone
to visit her throughout the day. She could see people
that she's used to seeing on a regular basis, and had |
known about that, she would be there now

But that is not something | was told about and

was not able to make that decision. M decision -- ny
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capability was taken fromne even though | amher legally
desi gnat ed power of attorney, and have been for nmany
years.

A neeting was held on the 6th of January with
case nmanagenent, Anita, Dr. Kelly Arnmstrong, Dr. Duncan,
and one ot her woman fromthe finance departnent, |
believe. Basically, they -- | was under the inpression
that when | spoke to Dr. Arnstrong that the nmeeting was
going to be to answer ny nedi cal questions. And when
got there | was flattened, flat out told that, no, we are
not here to answer your nedical questions. W are here
to get you to agree to discharge your sister by 8 p.m
tonight. W have already arranged an anbul ance to cone
and get her at 8 p.m, so we don't want to hear anything
that is outside of that purview

And | reiterated at | east three tines during
the hour that we were in the room and they again told
nme, no, they were not interested. That tine had cone and
gone, that they had answered all the questions they were
going to answer, and that if | didn't agree to her
di scharge, they were going to sue nme and take ne to court

for guardi anship. That is also what Dr. Arnstrong said
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to nme during the phone conversation that we had the day
bef ore when we schedul ed that neeting, because she
initially stated that they were taking ne to court for
guar di anshi p, for abandonnent for ny sister. |'mat that
hospital every single day.

As a matter of fact, with everything | had to
do yesterday, | didn't get there until very late, but |
went to the hospital at one o'clock this norning. |'m
survi ving on maybe an hour-and-a-half sl eep, because |
slept in the chair at the hospital, which is not unconmobn
for me to do.

And so after not being able to cone to an
agreenent on the 6th, the nursing staff, in ny presence,
were pronptly told they were not to share any health
information with ne at all about ny sister. And in fact,
| stood and witnessed them-- there are nachines on the
wall that's their blood pressure test, the thernoneter,
and they have a pul se ox that goes on her finger for her
oxygen levels. | wtnessed the nurse disconnect it and
throw it away, so | could not see anything that was on
t he nonitor.

My sister, during this tinme, cane down wth an
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infection. | had no idea what the infection was. |
didn't know if she was being treated because | woul d ask
the nurses and they would tell ne we are not allowed to
give you the information. And it's stated in her chart,
and within her charts there's a note fromDr. Arnstrong
actual |y addressed that.

As far as information, it's not that -- not
contacting the doctors after a certain tinme, that cane
later. The initial one was that because we are pursuing
guardi anship that they were not to share any nedi cal
information wth ne.

Later, they nmade the decision that it was not
to be after 5 o' clock, but when | called -- when the
doctor was paged, the doctor that has provided the report
here, was contacted in regards to a nedi cal question.
was pronptly told, and there is also a note here within
the records that addresses this, that | was to call Dr.
Arnmstrong and get the nedical information fromher. But
Dr. Arnmstrong is a PhD, she is not an MD., so | found it
quite strange that an MD. was telling ne that | needed
totalk to a PhDto get a nedical infornmation on ny

Si ster.
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Dr. Arnmstrong is actually chief of the ethics
departnent and clinical observation, | think is her
title, or sonething to that effect.

Q All right. M. Bell, do you think your sister
needs a guardi an?

A No, | think we have been doing quite well wth
t he power of attorney, but | do understand in Virginia
that they are not one in the sane, they are different.
In California it's pretty much the sane thing, and
definitely don't believe she needs a guardian that's
outside of the famly if she does need one.

It should be soneone who knows her, and soneone
that | oves her, and that is going to do the best for her;
t hat knows what her religious beliefs are, that knows
what her personal values are. That knows enough about
her that can nake these decisions, and during those
periods of times where she is not -- because there is
about five-percent of the tinme that she is not really
able to communicate with you at all. There is sonething
that seizes in her brain that prevents her from-- |
guess - -

MS. KI RKLAND: (bjection, foundation.
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M5. MORISI: Oh, I'msorry. Your Honor, |I'm

ready to -- those are ny questions.

questi on,

end.

THE WTNESS: My | say sonet hi ng?

THE COURT: I'll sustain the objection. Next
ma' am
THE WTNESS: | spent a year --

THE COURT: No, there's not a question pending.

Counsel , your next question.

M5. MORISI: I'mgoing to -- |'ve cone to ny

THE COURT: Ckay, very good.

Cr oss- exam nati on.

MS. KI RKLAND: Yes, Your Honor.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. KI RKLAND:

Q

A

Q
Hospi tal ,

A

Morni ng, Ms. Bell.

Good nor ni ng.

Prior to her adm ssion to | NOVA Fairfax
where was Ms. Adans i mmedi ately prior?

She was at Potomac Falls Health and Rehab

Center there in Sterling, Virginia.

Q

And did she go to I NOVA Loudoun in between?

75
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A They took her from Sterling, Potomac Falls to
Loudoun because the anmbul ance did not directly bring her
to Fairfax.

Q And who nade the decision then to transfer her
from | NOVA Loudoun Hospital to I NOVA Fairfax Hospital ?

A | did after speaking with the director of the
E.R and her letting nme know that | NOVA was a hi gher
standard of care, and if it were her famly nenber, she
woul d have done the sane thing.

Q Prior to transferring Ms. Adans to Fairfax
Hospital, were you advised that there was no nedi cal

reason to transfer her?

A No, | was advi sed that Medicare woul d not pay
for it.
Q And you were advised that there was a risk of

transfer due to her state at the tine, wth a fever and
pneunoni a?

A | was advised that there was a risk if | put
her in ny car and transferred her that way. | paid for
t he anbul ance to take her.

MS. KIRKLAND:  Your Honor, I'd like to mark

this as Petitioner's Exhibit C.
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THE COURT: Al right.

7

(The docunent referred to above was nmarked

Petitioner's Exhibit C for
identification.)
(Wher eupon, a docunent was presented to the Court
and the w tness.)
M5. KI RKLAND: Thank you.
BY MS. Kl RKLAND:
Q Ms. Bell, do you recognize this formthat has

been nmarked as Exhibit C?

A It appears to be from her records at | NOVA
Loudoun.
Q Do you see as patient representative, is that

your signature?

A | believe so. The printing under relationship
Is definitely ny witing.

Q And you understand that this form-- in this
formyou are certifying on behalf of Ms. Adans that she
was | eaving the hospital at Loudoun agai nst the advice of
t he attendi ng physician and hospital adm nistration?

A This is an AMA that all hospitals if you | eave.

Q If you | eave agai nst nedi cal advice, correct?
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A |f they can give you the sane standard of care
to where you are going to, yes.

Q Ms. Bell, inthis formby signing it, it states
that you acknow edge that you have been inforned of the
ri sks involved and rel ease the attendi ng physici ans,
hospitals and its enployees fromall its responsibility
for any ill effects the -- (unintelligible), correct?

A The form says that, yes.

Q And so you understood that by signing this you
were | eaving the hospital with Ms. Adans agai nst the
advi ce of her attendi ng physicians and hospital
adm ni stration at | NOVA Loudoun Hospital ?

A No, | was renoving ny sister, or transferring
ny sister based upon the conversation that | had with the
enmergency roomdirector. | can't renmenber what her nane
was; it's on one of the other forns in here, in one of
her notes regarding the conversation that she had with ne
that -- since she was being transferred within an
anbul ance with all of her IVs and everything intact,
there was a risk; but having the anbul ance and the
paranmedi cs that transferred her, that it mtigated those.

Q And this was not the attendi ng physician that
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you had this conversation wth?
A This was the attendi ng physician supervisor.
MS. KI RKLAND: Your Honor, 1'd nove Exhibit C
i nto evi dence.
THE COURT: Any objection?
M5. MORISI: No objection.

79

THE COURT: The Court will receive Petitioner's

Exhi bit C

(The docunent referred to above was nmar ked

Petitioner's Exhibit C for identification
and was received into evidence.)

BY Ms. KI RKLAND:

Q You nentioned that upon transfer, Medicare
woul d not cover it. |Is that correct?
A They woul d not cover the anmbul ance ri de because

she was already at a facility, and which we woul d have
done fromthe nursing facility directly fromthere to

| NOVA Fairfax. However, | was told by the nursing staff
at Potonmac Falls that it would take them a good 45

m nutes to an hour for LifeCare to get there to renove

her from-- to Fairfax. At that tine her tenperature was

still rising.
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Q Just answer ny question; Medicare woul dn't
cover it because the transfer was not nedically
necessary, correct? Yes or no.

A They woul dn't cover it because she was al ready
in a facility where she could receive care.

Q And she receives Medicare A & B as well, it's
Kai ser insurance, correct?

A Correct.

Q D d you seek treatnent for her other than the
Kai ser networ k?

A No.

Q And why not ?

A Because of issues that we had with the Kaiser
doctors at Reston Hospital when she was hospitalized
t here.

Q And so by admtting her into | NOVA, she woul d
be out of plan, correct?

A She woul d be out of Kaiser's plan, but Mdicare
woul d still cover her.

Q And when el ecting that --

MS. KIRKLAND: Actually, I'd like to make this
Exhi bit D.
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(The docunent referred to above was nmarked
Petitioner's Exhibit D for identification.)

BY MS. KI RKLAND:

Q Do you recognize this form M. Bell?

A This is the formthat was given to ne. |
believe this is the sane formthat was given to nme by the
Kai ser representative or sonebody there at the adm ssions
depart nent .

Q And this is your signature on the fornf

A It 1Is.
Q And you're signing as power of attorney and her
sister?

A Correct.

Q On behalf of Ms. Adans, correct?

A Correct.

Q And so by signing this you were obligating M.
Adans to elect to use out-of-network, out-of-trans
benefits, and accept any responsibility for any financi al
penal ties, correct?

A | was -- that's what it says here, but | was
accepting -- she has Medicare part A & B, so Medicare --

because she has Medicare, and the way that the Kaiser
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programis nmanaged, she does not have to use them Now,
she will be responsible for paying co-pays that would be
responsi ble at the hospital, but Medicare takes care of

her hospitalizations.

Q And so once you signed this form her only
remai ni ng covering at | NOVA Fairfax Hospital is Mdicare?

A Correct.

Q On Decenber 28, 2016, you | earned | NOVA Fairfax
Hospital cleared Ms. Adans for discharge?

A What date was it?

Q Decenber 28t h.

A " mnot sure of the date, but it was sonmewhere
around the end of the nonth.

Q Well, on Decenber 28th doesn't seem-- do you
recall contacti ng KEPRO whi ch nmanages her Medicare to
appeal the decision to discharge her?

A | don't renmenber the exact date, but it was
around -- it was the | ast week in Decenber.

Q Okay. And you contacted KEPRO to appeal. Wy
did you do that?

A Because | did not agree with the discharge,

that she -- with the nedical that she had with the bl ood
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clot, and with the pericardial effusion.

Q And based on that appeal, Medicare denied the
appeal and denied further coverage at | NOVA Fairfax?

A KEPRO denied it, yes.

Q KEPRO on behal f of Medi care?

A KEPRO i s the contract -- the state contracted
organi zation that's a quality assurance organi zation.
They are not part of Medicare; they don't work for
Medi car e.

Q | s KEPRO the one that handl es the appeal s
t hough, whet her the Medi care benefits continue to apply?

A They handl e the appeals for discharges, yes.

Q And based on their review after Decenber 30,
2016, Medicare no | onger covered Ms. Adanms at | NOVA
Fairfax Hospital, correct?

A They left ne a voicemail saying that they had
agreed with the hospital, and that | could file for |eave
for consideration.

Q And you filed for reconsideration?

A | did.

Q And they denied that as well ?

A

| don't know exactly how many days | ater, but
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yes, they did. In which tine | appealed it to Medicare
itself, and is now with the Adm ni strative Law Judge.

Q KEPRO as they make their decisions based on
I ndependent position review, correct?

A That's a matter of opinion.

Q | s that what you understand fromtheir
communi cations to you?

A | don't recall themtelling ne that they were
I ndependent, but they have two separate doctors that
| ooked at the initial one, and the other one | ooked at
the reconsideration. |If that's what you nean?

Q And bot h physi ci ans agreed that she no | onger
requi red acute nedical care at a hospital facility,

correct?

84

A Yes, and they did the sane thing at Reston, and

Rest on was overturned by the Adm nistrative Law Judge.

Q Ms. Bell, you nmentioned you didn't know about
t he bed at Birm ngham G een. How many tines has a soci al
wor ker or case manager from | NOVA contacted you to

di scuss di scharge?

A | don't know t he nunber off hand. | woul d have

to log on ny phone to tell you.
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Q About how often then would you say?
A Vell, initially when they started calling ne,
and | wish |l could -- | believe her name was Cathy. She

called ne actually every 20 m nutes over a four or five-
hour or six-hour period to the point where | had to turn
ny phone off because | was trying to get sone work done
for the Federal Court in D.C.

Q I n speaking with any social worker, case
manager from | NOVA, have you consented to discharge to
any facility?

A Not before ny medi cal questions were answered,
but that was the initial thing we were going through.
This was before the January neetings; January 26th or
28t h neeting, whenever that was. Because whenever |
woul d ask a question | was told, well, that's a
specialist's question, so you need to answer them but
yet they could box me into a corner that you can only ask
questi ons between the certain hours and -- | nean, there
were tines that -- it took Dr. Balaji well over a week to
get back with ne regarding the pericardial effusion. And
then the DBT he referred me to the henatol ogi st.

Q So to date you have not gone to neet with any
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soci al worker or case nmanager to find an appropriate
facility for Ms. Adans?

A No, that's not true. | have net with Mchelle.
| don't know if Lindsay is part of their office or not,
but she and I had a | ong conversation. The neeting that
we had on the 6th of January with Anita, Dr. Arnmstrong,
Dr. Duncan; all who are part of case nmanagenent. |'ve
left Mchell e phone nessages. |'ve spoken to her maybe
tw ce on the phone, possibly three tines.

Q And so | believe you testified on direct that
you had not been hearing fromthem You had in fact had
mul ti pl e phone calls and neetings with vari ous personnel
at | NOVA about di scharge options?

A Only, actually Mchelle and then Anita at that
nmeeting. The others, the calls |I received have been
nmessages, and only once or naybe tw ce have | actually
been asked to call sonebody back know ng that | was going
to be at the hospital. There was a social worker and |
don't know her nane, but canme sonmewhere around 6: 00 or
7:00 and spoke to nme, but again this was before the
nmeeti ng where we sat down with the doctors and the rest

of them had gotten information. And at that point | had
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al ready spoken to Dr. Arnmstrong, and we were waiting for
additional information, or were waiting for the order for
(unintelligible) or for sonething. | can't recal

exactly what it was but.

Q Ms. Bell, sitting here today, do you have a
di scharge plan for Ms. Adans?

A A di scharge pl an?

Q Meani ng do you have a facility in mnd where
she could go? Have you nmade any arrangenents to
facilitate a transfer for her to that facility?

A | can't go into a facility and ask them and say
that | want to transfer her here. Froma direct hospital
to a facility transfer, that cones fromyou guys and your
office. Now, |'ve gone and | ooked at different
facilities. |1've |ooked at Gainesville. |'ve gone and
| ooked at the Manassas Health Rehab. There was one ot her
one, | can't renenber, aside from Potonmac Falls, there
was one other one that | went to | ook at and got a tour
of. So |I've gone and actually | ooked at these pl aces,
yes.

Q And follow ng that tour, did you go to soci al

wor ker, case manager at |INOVA and try to facilitate any
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specific transfer to any specific facility?
A That's how | let them know there were certain

ones that | would not have her sent to.

MS. KIRKLAND: No further questions, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Al right. Are they any cross-
exam nation questions fromthe GAL?

MS. JOHNSTON: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Al right. Any redirect?

M5. MORISI: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Al right, ma'am you can have a
seat next to counsel.

(Wtness excused.)

THE COURT: Counsel, your next w tness?

M5. MORISI: | have no further w tnesses, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Al right, do you have any evi dence
you Wi sh to present?

M5. MORISI: No, Your Honor.

There was a paper left up there if we could
have that back. That was not put into evidence.

THE COURT: kay.
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(Wher eupon, a document was returned to counsel.)
THE COURT: All right, does the guardi an ad
| item have any evidence she wi shes to provide?
M5. JOHNSTON: Your Honor, |I'd to admt ny
report into evidence.
THE COURT: Al right, Madam derk, let's have
the GAL report admtted into evidence.
(The docunent referred to above was
mar ked for identification and received
i nto evidence.)
THE COURT: Does the Petitioner have any
rebuttal evidence she wi shes to present?
MS. KIRKLAND: Your Honor, | may. Wuld it be
possible to take a very brief recess just so | can
det erm ne whet her we need to rebut anything?
THE COURT: Yes, we could take a -- well, |
usually take a 10-15 mnute recess in the norning. W
got started a little late, so why don't we take a 10-
m nut e recess.
| f you have nothing else, then we'll go to
cl osi ng argunents.

MS. KIRKLAND: Great, thank you, Your Honor.
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(Wher eupon, at approximately 12:08 p.m a brief
recess was taken, and resuned at approximately 12:22
p.m)

THE COURT: Counsel, do you have any rebuttal
evi dence you w sh to present?

MS. KI RKLAND: Yes, Your Honor. 1'd like to
call Kenneth Labowitz for a few brief questions.

THE COURT: Ckay.

(Wher eupon, the witness was duly sworn by the clerk
of the Court.)

THE COURT: Counsel, please proceed when ready.

Wher eupon,

KENNETH E. LABOW TZ, ESQ ,
a wtness, called for exam nation by counsel for the
petitioner, and having been first duly sworn by the clerk
of the Court, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. Kl RKLAND:

Q M. Labowitz, would you state your full nane
for the record?

A Kennet h Labow t z.

Q And are you a proposed guardi an and conservat or
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in this case?

A That's what | understand, yes.

Q Al ong wi th whonf

A Along with ny partner and ny law firm Anne
Hei shman.

Q And can you describe very briefly for the Court
your experience in perform ng these exercises?

A Sure. Since 1993 | have been appoi nted as
guardi an and conservator for one or the other in hundreds
of cases. Since 2003 this has been ny only practice. W
litigate matters of estate admnistration and
guar di anshi ps. Anne and | are now guardi ans, | think for
somet hing |Ii ke 120 people. W do keep track of them we
give them nunbers, | think that's what the census is.

Q And how many persons do you think you' ve served
as guardi an and conservator for in your career?

A At one point | counted 900. |It's probably over
1, 000 now.

Q And if you're appointed by the Court to serve
as a guardi an and conservator for Ms. Adanms, what woul d
be your plan of discharge?

A |'ve talked to people, Ms. Hall and the other
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peopl e that have been involved in her care to see what it
is that they think she needs. bviously, | have tal ked
to Ms. Bell to see -- |'ve heard today nany of her

obj ections. They need to figure out what places that I
won't send anyone so see if she and | agree on where we
shoul d avoi d.

It is not a sinple process in sinply saying she
shoul d go to Birnm ngham G een for exanple. There has to
be a bed at the |level of care that Ms. Adans needs. So
it is something of a noving target as to what facility
has what bed avail abl e when.

And ny goal would be to identify a place that
can provide the quality of care that Ms. Adans needs. |

get that Ms. Bell wants to be close to Manassas to her

home, if that's possible, that works. It may not be
possible. 1It's not sonething that | can control or
anybody can control. |It's the market whether there is a

supply of beds in place that is acceptable to provide the
care that Ms. Adans needs.

Q And are you willing to serve along with your
partner, M. Heishnan as a guardi an and conservator for

Ms. Adans?
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A | am yes.
Q Thank you.
M5. KIRKLAND: | have no further questions,
Your Honor.
THE COURT: Cross-exam nation by the
| nt er venor ?
M5. MORISI: Yes, thank you, Your Honor.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY M. MORI SI:
Q | guess it's good afternoon

A Yes, it is.

93

Q If the Court so chose, would you agree to serve

wth Ms. Bell, another guardian?

A That's a difficult question. Typically we do
not just because it's the idea of taking votes and
deci ding by -- you know, we have two votes and she has
one vote. That's really not going to work.

Certainly, | can hear the comm tnent that she

has to her sister, and | am happy to conmunicate with M.

Bell to the extent that if we get to a place that is
avai l abl e and that works, | think that sonebody needs to

be a deci si on nmaker. | think soneone -- or Anne and |
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need to be the decision nakers. | don't think anybody
else -- it just doesn't work to have a commttee and a
consensus.

Q Do you foresee a Iimted guardi anshi p?

A | don't really know what that neans. |If what
we are tal king about is noving Ms. Adans into sonme sort
of care facility where there is an avail abl e bed, and
continuing that until sonme tinme in the future, that
wor ks.

We regularly initiate and carry through
term nations of guardi anships. W've been here as
recently as a couple of weeks ago where sonebody had
reached the end of the need for a guardian and the Court
rul ed that the guardi anshi p shoul d be term nated.

| get that Ms. Bell is very closely connected
to her sister's care. | get it that Ms. Bell is probably
goi ng to have questions for ne and recomendati ons for
me, and for the staff at whatever facility Ms. Adans ends
up at. | don't really understand how it would work for
three of us to be guardians together, and limted with --
| don't know what the limtationis. |It's just a matter

of having Ms. Adans admtted to a facility, and until
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some future event happens. That's okay, | understand.

Q Ri ght, by need or change in circunstance?

A Sure. And the Court is here every Friday
norni ng to hear changes in circunstances, changes in
appoi ntnents, and | know the way to the courthouse, so.

Q Thank you.

M5. MORISI: Nothing further, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Cross-examni nation.

M5. MORISI: Excuse nme, nay | consult with ny
client?

THE COURT: O course. Take your tine.

(Di scussions off the record not reported by the
court reporter.

M5. MORISI: No further questions, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Al right. G oss-exam nation by
the guardian ad litenf

M5. JOHNSTON: | don't have any questi ons.

THE COURT: Al right. Any redirect?

MS. KIRKLAND: No redirect, and no further
evi dence, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right, counsel, you nay have a

seat .
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THE W TNESS: Thank you.
THE COURT: Thank you.
(Wtness excused.)

THE COURT: Bear with ne for just a nonent,

counsel ors.
(Brief pause.)

THE COURT: Al right, let's proceed with

cl osing argunents for the petitioner.

MS. Kl RKLAND: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

96

As | nentioned in opening, the standard of this

petition is set forth in Virginia Code Section 64. 2-2007,
and it sets forth seven factors for this Court nust
consi der in appointing a guardi an and conservat or.

The first two factors are the limtations of
t he respondent and the devel opnent of the respondent's
maxi mum sel f-reli ance and i ndependence.

| think there's no dispute in this case,
there's been no evidence today that Ms. Adans has the
capacity to nake decisions for herself. Dr. Betzelos
testified that to a reasonabl e degree of nedica
certainty she has not, and Ms. Bell has been acting as

her next of kin or power of attorney because she cannot
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make those decisions. So the first two factors at | east
wei gh in favor of appointing a guardi an and conservator.

The third factor; the availability of |ess
restrictive alternatives including powers of attorney and
advanced nedi cal directives.

Your Honor, this is what's been in place. M.
Bel | has been acting as power of attorney, and for the
| ast 50 days she been unable or unwilling, for whatever
reason, to facilitate a transfer of Ms. Adans to an
appropriate facility. There's no evidence before this
Court that Ms. Adans is not stable and right for
di schar ge.

The only nedical testinony Your Honor heard
today was fromDr. Betzelos that testified that every
departnment wthin | NOVA Hospital, Cardiology, Pul nonary,
all of them have concl uded since Decenber 28, 2016, M.
Adans is ready for discharge.

A less restrictive alternative |ike a power of
attorney or advanced nedical directive has sinply not
been working in this case. And at least at this ting,
maybe it is for a certain during, but at least at this

time | think there are no less restrictive alternatives
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than a guardian | think further who can neke deci sions
for Ms. Adans.

The forth factor is the extent to which is
necessary to protect respondent from negl ect,
exploitation and abuse. | think that factor supports a
guardian, I"'mnot sure it dictates who should serve. So
that brings us to the last three factors.

THE COURT: " msorry, Counsel, | didn't
understand that point. There's no allegation of abuse,
exploitation or neglect, right?

MS. KIRKLAND: Correct, that was ny point. |
think the forth factor weighs in favor of appointing
soneone, but it doesn't dictate who should serve, because
there is no evidence that either the sister or anyone
el se has abused Ms. Adans. | think she is well cared for
by everyone. So I'mnot really sure if that factor hel ps
much, but it has to be consi dered.

THE COURT: Ckay.

MS. KIRKLAND: The lasting factors wei gh
heavily, not only in appointing a guardi an and
conservator, but also in favor of appointing

professionals |like M. Labowtz and Ms. Hei shman, who are
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willing to serve for Ms. Adans in this capacity.

The fifth factor for instance is the actions
needed to be taken by a a guardian or a conservator. And
that's the very issue in this case.

The evidence is Ms. Adans has been ready for
di scharge since Decenber, and she renains in the
hospital. She is not required that |evel of care, and
she's in a hospital that Dr. Betzelos testified is at a
95- percent capacity, and it has its own duty to the
public to ensure that its beds are available for patients
who actually need acute nedi cal care.

There's a case out of the District Court in
D.C. (unintelligible) versus Beacom (PH) where the Court
said a hospital has a noral duty to reserve its
accommuodat i ons for persons who need nedi cal and hospital
care, and it would be a deviation fromits purposes to
act as a nursing hone for persons who need nursing care.
The action required in this case is that Ms. Adans needs
nursing care, not acute-|evel care.

| think the evidence supports the only
pr of essi onal guardi ans we proposed would be willing to

make that decision and facilitate a plan today.

Inabnet Court Reporting
(703) 331-0212




© 00 ~N o o b~ w N PP

I T N N N e N e T o e i
N P O © 00 N o U~ W N P O

100

Ms. Bell, even sitting here today, know ng that
this case is here, has no plan and has nade no effort to
go to the social worker and case manager at | NOVA, pick a
pl ace that is avail able today and nmake that deci sion.
It's sonething that changes daily, so she can't wait to
get a nessage and call back a few days |ater. Doing that
in that circular process, as Ms. Hall testified, the bed
w |l never be available. She will just renmain in the
hospital as she has for the | ast 50 days.

The sixth factor is simlar. |It's the
suitability of the proposed guardi ans and conservators.
Ms. Bell has been the one that's been nmaking the
deci sions, and it's not worKking. M. Labowitz testified
that he and his partner, M. Heishman woul d consi der her
interests and her preferences, as well as those of M.
Adans to the extent they're nunb.

He has plenty of experience. He said he
represented naybe a 1000, or he served as guardi an and
conservator for nmaybe 1000 persons in the northern
Virginia area. He's famliar with the facilities. He
testified that there are sone he would not send anyone

to. He's not willing to just discharge her anywhere, he
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is thoughtful, careful, and he will be held to a
fiduciary standard under the Code, which he will owe to
Ms. Adans to ensure that any decisions nmade in her best
i nterests.

And that brings us to the seventh factor, which
is the best interests of Ms. Adans as the respondent.

As this Court has heard from Ms. Hall and al so
M. Labowi tz, a professional guardian could facilitate
| ocati ng an appropriate placenent for Ms. Adans at this
time.

Additionally, the evidence fromMs. Bell, she
transferred Ms. Adans to Fairfax Hospital against nedical
advi ce, and now with nedi cal advice saying to pl ease
transfer her, she doesn't do it. She testified, the
quote | wote down was, "I question everything a doctor
tells me now." And while sone |evel of questioning is
healt hy and probably in Ms. Adans' bests interests,
questioning every little thing to the point where it
paral yzes her and nmakes her unable to nake a decision, is
not in Ms. Adans' best interests.

As stated by the GAL in her report, M. Adans

does not need to be in the hospital where she is in a
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greater risk of infection.

In order to achieve the desired goal of
di scharging her a hone, a next step is placenent in a
skilled nursing facility. So consistent with the
reconmendati on of the GAL, | NOVA would ask this Court to
appoint M. Labowitz and Ms. Hei shman as the guardi ans
and conservators.

At |least for the tinme now, if the Court wanted
to set the matter out on the docket a few weeks for
review after she's been discharged and placed to see if
it still makes sense to proceed, | NOVA woul d have no
objection to putting sone type of restraint or duration
on it, at least for review But at this tinme standing
here today, | think the only option is to appoint M.
Labowitz and Ms. Hei shnan as the guardi an and
conservat or.

THE COURT: Wy a conservatorship?

MS. KI RKLAND: Your Honor, the conservatorship
-- perhaps | should have had M. Labowitz el aborate. 1In
order to place her, they will need to have Medi care in
place to pay for it or fund it. And so in order for them

to facilitate the placenent after discharge, they wll
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need access to her financial through Medicare, her
Medi cai d; be able to get the appropriate wai vers needed
that she's to go honme eventually. She wll need -- it's
call ed an EDC wai ver to get staff in a hone. So in order
to facilitate these transfers and di scharges, they'l|
need access to her -- whether it's benefits through
Medi care, Medicaid, or her finances to the extent she has
any neans.

THE COURT: Ckay. Well, that wll be a
question for the guardian ad litemin that closing.

MS. KI RKLAND: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ckay. Thank you very nmuch.

Let's go with the closing with the intervenor
before we go with the GAL.

M5. MORISI: Thank you, Your Honor.

Well, Your Honor, you have a very difficult
deci sion. Before you is a question that could put a
stranger in charge of Ms. Adans.

You heard fromny client, she's a wal king
encycl opedia of her sister's needs. This isn't just a
famliar duty. This is a conplete | ove and respect for

her sister. She under st ands her sister's needs, her
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pai ns, her joys. She's always acting in her sister's
best interest. This condition is not just sonething that
happened i n Novenber, Decenber or January. This is been
an on-goi ng issue that she has been involved with. And
as | say, she's always acting in the best interests of
her sister.

Decl i ning the di scharge, when presented to her
in January, she felt was in her sister's best interests
that further care was needed. And then being kept from
the nmedical information that actually was needed for her
to conti nue nmaki ng deci sions, was further detrinental to
her sister's care.

They denied Ms. Bell the ability to be her
sister's advocate, and now they criticize her for not
bei ng an advocate and not naki ng deci si ons.

Your Honor, if you determ ne that guardi anship
IS necessary, | ask that you consider Ms. Bell.
Alternatively, if you determ ne that a neutral guardian
shoul d be appoi nted, that you pl ease make t hem co-
guardi an of Ms. Bell, and protect her rights to
participate in her sister's nedical care decisions and

living arrangenents. And that you limt the duration of
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any guardi anship to that which is necessary to effectuate
a safe discharge from | NOVA

Ms. Bell is not necessarily disagreeable to a
skilled nursing facility, but she feels hone is the best
pl ace for her sister, and in the past her sister has been
di scharged directly to hone.

What she needs from case managers i s assi stance
in getting the home ready for her sister to be received.
That EDC wai ver that ny coll eague nentioned, the
per cussi on equi pnent, possibly oxygen if that's required
or consi dered necessary, the prescriptions, et cetera,
and the nursing staff that's needed.

But that's what ny client would |ike. That's
her plan for her sister, for her to be hone.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

d osing argunent of the guardian ad |litem

MS. JOHNSTON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

|deally Ms. Bell could continue to serve as her
power of attorney for her sister, Ms. Adans. And that
has been in the works for the past couple of nonths, and

all the neetings and negotiations. But really all that
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requires her to continue to serve and act in her sister's
best interests was to agree to a discharge.

| still want Ms. Bell to take care of her
sister, but we've cone to essentially a |oop that we
can't seemto get out of.

And so what |I'm hoping is that having the
pr of essi onal guardi ans and conservators step in and get
us off this loop. That the ultimte goal will be that
Ms. Bell can step back in as her role, and that the power
of attorneys step in and then beconme unsuspended, and
that she's been able to nmake nedi cal decisions and care
for her sister.

Because she does clearly | ove and care for her
sister, that she just seens to be unable to make the
decisions required for her sister to be di scharged,
probably for a nunber of reasons.

You heard a great anount of distrust that had
becone famliar over the years for the nedical community.
And when you are caring for sonmeone that you | ove, and
you t hi nk peopl e have ulterior notives, and that they've
made m stakes, it's probably natural to distrust. But

that distrust has risen to the |level we can't nove
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forward for Ms. Adans' care, and can't nove forward to
get her back honme so that they can |ive together again.

So it would be ny recommendati on for the
guardi anshi p and conservatorship to be entered wth the
hope that it's tenporary, and that Ms. Bell can return to
her care-taking role.

THE COURT: Wy are you recomendi ng a bond for
t he conservatorship of $30,000 with Surety?

M5. JOHNSTON: So that if a Surety Bond is
deened to be necessary. | don't think that a Surety Bond
is really necessary. It seens |ike the Conm ssioner of
Accounts prefers a Surety Bond.

THE COURT: It's usually one-third of the
assets of the estate.

M5. JOHNSTON: Right, but that prem um anount,
that's the small est prem um anount before it goes up, so
it doesn't matter if it's one dollar or if she has one
dol Il ar or $30, 000, that would be the new bond anpbunt. So
it could be anything under that. W just don't -- she's
i ndi gent .

THE COURT: That's what | needed to know.

M5. JOHNSTON: Yes, yes. So she -- to ny
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under st andi ng, she does not have separate funds other
than disability, and from ny understanding as well that
Ms. Bell has been serving as her representative, payee,
so they haven't needed a conservator thus far. But she's
been able to serve in that role, but in terns of the need
for the attorneys to have, at least to begin the
conservatorship, it will nake it easier to get the
services in place for Mdicaid.

Alot of tines with these cases when we're not
entirely sure how nmuch noney or if the person is
I ndigent, that a conservatorship usually gets dropped
wthin a nonth or so if it's no | onger needed.

THE COURT: |Is that through Comm ssioner Russ?

M5. JOHNSTON:  Yes, so what will happen woul d
be that M. Labowitz or M. Heishman would file a notion
to either reduce the bond anobunt or just close the
conservatorship if it's not necessary. |t probably won't
be necessary long after they do what they needed to do,
and it would revert back to Ms. Adans' funds bei ng
managed agai n by her sister.

THE COURT: Gkay. Thank you, counsel.

M5. JOHNSTON: Thank you.
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THE COURT: Al right, the petitioner, the
nmovi ng party gets the final argunent since it's your
bur den.

MS. KIRKLAND: | have nothing further, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Ckay.

So with regard to the petition to appoint a
guardi an and a conservator, the Court's analysis is
driven by statute. The Ceneral Assenbly has nade it
clear that Judges are to consider certain statutory
factors.

So what | need to do is | ook at the evidence
that was presented in this case, assess the w tness
testi nony and exhibits and apply the relevant facts into
the |l egal factors that the Court requires consideration
of, so let ne work through this analysis. |In particular
| amreferring to Virginia Code Section 64.2-2007,
Subsection (c).

The first thing the Court needs to do is | ook
at the limtations of Ms. Adans. |It's very clear that
she does not have the capacity to care for herself in

| arge part due to the accidental overdose that occurred
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several years ago.

Wth regard to the second factor; the
devel opnent of the respondent’'s maxi mum self-reliance and
i ndependence. | have no evidence before nme that M.
Adans w Il ever becone self-sufficient, and that's
t hrough the testinony of the doctors and also Ms. Bell's
t esti nony.

Wth regard to nunber three; the availability
of less restrictive alternatives, including advanced
directives and durabl e powers of attorney.

Ms. Adans' sister has had such powers today,
and what ever power she has does not seemto be resol ving
the situation; nanely, that we have six specialists at
| NOVA, who for al nost two nonths have said that Ms. Adans
Is clear for discharge, and just cannot get the person
wth the power of attorney and advanced nedi cal
directives to agree.

The testinony of the nedical professionals is
that the argunent, the conversations are now circul ar, so
there's no end in point as far as the hospital is
concerned, and that is sinply not viable.

Nunmber four; the extent to which is necessary
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to protect the respondent from neglect, exploitation or
abuse. There is no indication of neglect, exploitation
or abuse.
Wiat the Court sees is that Ms. Adans is
bl essed to have a sister who | oves her and cares for her,
and | don't sense that the petitioner has engaged in any
negl ect, exploitation or abuse either. They're just
dealing with a situation where a nedi cal professional
bel i eves that sonebody is ready for discharge fromthe
Traunma One Treatnent Center, and that's not being
facilitated by the person with the power of attorney.
Nunber five; the actions needed to be taken by
t he guardi an or the conservator if one is appointed.
Well, the guardian will have to identify a
suitable facility that is referred to as a skilled
nursing-care facility, that could neet Ms. Adans'
current, and at |least for the short term future needs.
The conservator would be necessary because
Medi care becones involved. So sonebody with the ability
to make sone financial decisions, is going to have to be
I nvol ved when interacting with Medicare in order to find

an appropriate facility.
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And then we have the suitability of the
proposed guardi an or conservator. W have a coupl e of
options here. M. Labowtz and Ms. Hei shnan have
ext ensi ve experience for serving as GALs and conservators
for al nost 25 years, alnobst. They' ve excl usively been
doing this, and they are well respected in the area for
caring for the people who they are appointed to care for.

Wth regard to Ms. Bell, as | indicated she
| oves her sister very much, but | don't believe the
deci sion she's been nmaking when it comes to the discharge
has been in her sister's best interest. So | don't
bel i eve she is an appropriate person to serve as a
guardi an or a conservator

In ternms of the best interests of Ms. Adans,
the Court |ooks at all the evidence presented, and it is
clear to the Court that M. Labowitz and Ms. Hei shman are
the suitable people to serve as guardi an and conservators
for Ms. Adans to get her discharged from I NOVA, and find
a skilled nursing facility where she can be cared for
until she is able to conval esce to the point where she
can go be with her famly.

So the Court does grant the petition of | NOVA
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Heal t hcare Services to appoint M. Labowitz and Ms.
Hei shman t he guardi an and conservator for Anastasia
Adans.

The Court is going to require a $1, 000 wi t hout
Surety for guardi anship and $30,000 with Surety for the
conser vat or shi p.

Are there any questions of anyone?

M5. KI RKLAND: Your Honor, the only other thing
| would note is that the petitioner is required to accept
and bear the costs, and | NOVA has agreed to pay M.
Johnston's GAL fees. W wll include that in the order.
|'"d l'ike to show you the invoice, we mght need you to --

THE COURT: Final.

M5. KIRKLAND: -- agree also that it's okay
w th you.

THE COURT: Al right. 1Is there any objection
to the anount that the GAL is asking for?

M5. KIRKLAND: Not by I NOVA, and we've agreed
to pay it.

THE COURT: Al right.

MS. KI RKLAND: Your Honor, just for your

reference, that anount is just over $5,000 for her
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services. So that's fine.

THE COURT: Al right.

M5. KIRKLAND: So we'll just put that in the
or der.

THE COURT: That's fine, and you prepared an
order |'m assum ng, counsel ?

MS. KIRKLAND: | have, Your Honor. Conferring
with Ms. Morisi in looking at it this norning, we nade
full marks on it, but | just wanted to nake sure it's --

THE COURT: I'll step out into the hallway, so
you all could confirmit.

MS5. KIRKLAND: |f you could give us a few
m nutes, there's a lot that the statute requires. | just
want to nmake sure we got it right.

THE COURT: Al right. 1'Il be waiting
out si de.

MS. KI RKLAND: Thank you.

(Wher eupon, at approximately 12:51 p.m, the hearing

in this matter was concl uded.)
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Department of Health and Human Services
OFFICE OF MEDICARE HEARINGS AND APPEALS
Cleveland Field Office

Cleveland, Ohio

Appeal of: A. Adams ALJ Appeal No.:  1-5782988247
Beneficiary: A, Adams Medicare Part A
HICN: wiiRE4LTIA , Before: Thomas S, Tyler

U.S. Administrative Law Judge

DECISION

After carefully considering the evidence and arguments presented in the record and at hearing, a
FAVORABLE decision is entered for the Appellant,

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Beneficiary was admitted as an inpatient at Inova Fairfax Hospital (the Provider). The
Provider stated that it notified the Beneficiary of its decision to terminate inpatient services and
the Beneficiary appealed. KEPRO, a Family Centered Care Quality Improvement Organization
(BFCC-QIO), stated in its determination letter dated December 30, 2016, that the Beneficiary
was notified by telephone on December 30, 2016 at 4:09:23 PM that the decision to terminate
services was upheld and Medicare would no longer cover those services beginning on December
31, 2016 at 12 noon. KEPRO also stated that it informed the Beneficiary that she was
responsible for services continued at the Provider’s facility beginning on December 31, 2016,
except for those services covered by Medicare Part B. The Beneficiary requested that KEPRO
reconsider its previous decision. A KEPRO physician who was not involved in the initial
determination conducted another review of the medical information. On January 2, 2017
KEPRO issued a reconsideration, upholding its original decision that a continued stay in the
hospital was not medically necessary and would not be covered. (Ex. 2).

An appeal and request for an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Hearing, pursuant to 42 C.F.R. §
405.1002(a), was timely filed by the Appellant on behalf of the Beneficiary and received by the
Cleveland, Ohio, Office of Medicare Hearings and Appeals (OMHA). The amount in
controversy meets the jurisdictional requirements for a hearing at OMHA.

The undersigned ALJ held a telephone hearing on February 28, 2017 at 3:00 PM. Yolanda Bell,
the Beneficiary’s sister and power of attorney, appeared and testified on the Beneficiary’s behalf.
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The Medicare contractors were advised of the date and time of the hearing but the QIC did not
respond and KEPRO waived its right to be present. The witness was sworn according to law and
waived the right to an attorney.

The case was decided pursuvant to the Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. § 551 et. seq.),
Title XVIII of the Social Security Act (Act), and implementing regulations and policy. All
exhibits have been admitted into the record, without objection, and have been fully considered in
reaching the decision herein.

ISSUES

The decisions below concluded that the Beneficiary’s inpatient care was appropriately
terminated, The Appellant claims the Beneficiary continued to require an inpatient acute hospital
level of care after December 30, 2016. The issue on appeal is whether the Provider properly
terminated the Beneficiary’s inpatient services.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Beneficiary in this case is a 59 year-old woman who suffers from an anoxic brain injury,
bronchiectasis, gastroesophageal reflux disease, anxiety, dysphagia, contractures and had a PEG
tube. She was admitted to the provider’s facility from a skilied nursing facility (SNF) due to
cough, fevers, chills and extensive bibasilar pneumonia with aspiration. She completed
antibiotic treatment on December 11, 2016. (Ex. 2, p. 12, 81).

On December 22, 2016 an echo of the Beneficiary’s pericardium revealed a large pericardial
effusion circumferential to the heart. This is an abnormal amount of fluid between the heart and
the pericardium (the sac surrounding the heart). There was significant variation in the mitral
inflow, however no other evidence of hemodynamic compromise was noted. (Id. at p. 41).

The Beneficiary had recurrent fevers and worsening infiitrates in her lungs as seen on a chest x-
- ray. She was started on a second course of antibiotics for pneumonia on December 25, 2016.
(d atp. 12),

The progress noted of December 26, 2016 noted that the Beneficiary was moaning and agitated
without being consoled. She was incontinent of bladder and bowel and cleaned and changed.
She was coughing up whitish sputum so her mouth was suctioned and oral care was provided. A
healing ulcer was noted on her buttock and balsam peru-caster was applied and covered with a
foam barrier adhesive. She was fed through her tube. (Id. af p. 31). A progress note from that
date indicates the Beneficiary had recurrent fevers and worsening infiltrate on a chest x-ray . (/d.
at p. 23).

On December 27, 2016, the Beneficiary was noted to have a productive cough and moderate
amount of thick white sputum that required suctioning. She remained on continuous tube
feeding with water flushes every 3 hours. (Jd af p. 35). A pulmonary medicine progress report
on December 27, 2016 lists 19 “patient active problems” including aspiration pneumonia, sepsis,
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normocytic anemia, leukocytosis, pneumonia, abnormal EEG, seizure and dyspnea. (Ex. 2, p.
36).

On December 28, 2016, the Appellant’s family noticed that the tube feeding liquid was too thick
and it clogged the line. She reported it to the nurse and the tube had to be replaced with a new
one. (Id at p. 52). Also on that date, the AppeHant was informed by the social worker that the
physician had written the discharge order and there were attempts made by the social worker to
find a skilled nursing facility to her to be transferred. (Id. af p. 66).

On December 29, 2016, the Beneficiary was noted to be more congested in the morning. Her
oxygen saturation was 88% on room air but went up to 92-93% after a large amount of white thin
secretions were suctioned. (/d. at p. 68).

Ms. Bell appeared at hearing and advocated strongly and passionately for her sister. She
reiterated the history of her sister’s illnesses leading up to her transfer to the Provider’s facility.
She stated that her sister had multiple bouts of pneumonia and was unable to speak or eat and
had to be placed on a feeding tube. Ms. Bell urged that her sister was not medically stable at the
time of transfer and required continued inpatient care through Febiuvary 17, 2017, when she was
able to be transferred to a lower level of care. In addition, she stated that at the time of her
discharge, her sister was still being treated for pneumonia which included the production of
sputum that had to be suctioned in order for the Beneficiary to breath properly. Further, Ms. Bell
argued that her sister’s other medical conditions required continued inpatient care. She noted
that a large circumferential pericardial effusion was discovered; she suffered from a 12 inch deep
vein thrombosis with a clot; she had acute anaerobic fungal blood infection, the source of which
had not yet been determined and she suffered from acute malnutrition. (Ex. 3, p. 1; Hearing
CD). Given her sister’s multiple acute illnesses, she maintained that she needed to be closely
monitored in an inpatient hospital setting. (Hearing CD).

LEGAL FRAMEWORK

L ALJ Review Authority
A, Jurisdiction

An individual who, or an organization that, is dissatisfied with the reconsideration of an initial
determination is entitled to a hearing before the Secretary of the Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS), provided there is a sufficient amount in controversy and a request for
hearing is filed in a timely manner. (§ 1869(b)}(1)(A) of the Act).

In implementing this statutory directive, the Secretary has delegated authority to administer the
nationwide hearings and appeals system for the Medicare program to OMHA. (See 70 Fed. Reg.
36386, 36387 (June 23, 2005), as amended by 76 Fed. Reg. 19995 (August 8, 2011). The ALJs
within OMHA issue the final decisions of the Secretary, except for decisions reviewed by the
Medicare Appeals Council. (/d.)




The request for hearing is timely if filed within sixty (60) days after receipt of a QIC
reconsideration decision. (See 42 C.F.R. § 405.1014(b)(1)). These appeals are before the ALJ on
a timely request for hearing. The amounts in controversy meet the jurisdictional requirements for
an ALJ hearing before OMHA. (42 C.F.R. § 405.1006; 76 Fed. Reg. 59138 (July 4, 2011).

B. Scope of Review

All initial determinations for Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services’ (CMS) contractors,
subsequent to January 1, 2006, and all cases subject to a QIC reconsideration, are governed by
the ALJ hearing procedures set forth at 42 C.F.R, §§ 405.900 through 405.1064. (See 70 Fed.
Reg. 11420, 11424-26 (Mar. 8, 2005), as amended by 70 Fed. Reg. 37700 (June 30, 2005), 70
Fed. Reg. 50214 (August 26, 2005), and 74 Fed. Reg. 65296 (December 9, 2009)) pursuant to
the CMS implementation policy for the Medicare, Medicaid, SCHIP Benefits Improvement and
Protection Act of 2000 (BIPA), Pub. Law 106-554, app. F, 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-463, and the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (MMA), Pub, Law
108-173, 117 Stat. 2066.

The issues before the ALJ include all the issues brought out in the initial, reconsidered, or
revised determination that were not decided entirely in the Appellant’s favor. However, if
evidence presented before or during the hearing causes the ALJ to question a fully favorable
decision he or she will notify the Appellant and will consider it an issue at the hearing. (42
C.F.R. § 405.1032(b)). ' ‘

The ALJ may decide a case on the record and not conduct an oral hearing if the Appellant and all
the parties indicate in writing that they do not wish to appear before the ALJ at an oral hearing or
the evidence in the hearing record supports a finding in favor of the Appellant on every issue.
(42 C.F.R, § 405.1038).

C. Standard of Review

“The ALJ conducts a de novo review and issues a decision based on the hearing record.” (42
C.F.R. § 405.1000(d)).

II.  Principles of Law
A. Statutes and Regulations

The Medicare program, Title XVIII of the Act, is administered through CMS, a component of
HHS. Under the authority of §1842(a) of the Act, the Secretary of HHS is authorized to enter
into contracts with private entities for the daily operations of the program.

Medicare Part A entitles a beneficiary to reimbursement for a variety of costs associated with
hospital, related post-hospital, home health services, and hospice care for individuals eligible for
Medicare, (42 U.S.C. § 1395d (a) (1)). Payment by Medicare is limited by § 1862(a) of the Act
which states, in pertinent part: “Notwithstanding any other provision of this title, no payment
may be made under Part A or Part B for any expenses incurred for items or Services — (1) (A)
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which, ...are not reasonable and necessary for the diagnosis or treatment of illness or injury or to
improve the functioning of a malformed body member, . .» (42 U.S.C. § 1395y(a)(1)(A); see
also 42 C.F.R. § 411.15(k)(1)). '

Section 1833(e) of the Act states that “[n}o payment shall be made to any provider of services or
other person under this part unless there has been furnished such information as may be
necessary in order to determine the amounts due such provider or other person under this part for
the period with respect to which the amounts are being paid or for any prior period.” (42 U.S.C.
§ 13951(e)).

Section 1871(a)(2) of the Act provides that no rule, requirement or statement of policy, other
than a National Coverage Determination (NCD), can establish or change a substantive legal
standard governing the scope of benefits or payment for services under the Medicare program
unless it is promulgated as a regulation by CMS. However, although not subject to the force and
effect of the law, CMS and its confractors, have issued policy and guidelines that describe
criteria for coverage for selected types of medical services and supplies.

Section 1879(a) of the Act provides that if the services provided are deemed to be not reasonable
and necessary for the diagnosis and treatment of an illness or injury or to improve the
functioning of a malformed body member or are deemed to be custodial, payment may still be
made if both the Beneficiary and the Provider of the services did not know, nor reasonably
should have been expected to know, that the services would not be reimbursable by Medicare. If
no payment may be made under this section, the Beneficiary’s liability for the charges incurred
may be waived if the Beneficiary did not know, nor reasonably should have been expected to
know, that the services would not be reimbursable by Medicare. (§ 1879(b)). Medicare
reimbursement under § 1879 cannot be made when Medicare coverage is denied for any basis
other than under the provision of § 1862(a)(1). (§ 1879(a)(1)). :

CMS regulations consider a provider or supplier to have known that items or services would not
be covered by Medicare if they are given direct notice of this by CMS or any of its agents,
including intermediaries and carriers, by utilization review committees, or by the beneficiary’s
attending physician. (See 42 C.F.R, § 411.406(b) and (c)). A provider or supplier is also
considered to have notice that services are not covered if it is clear that they should have known
of Medicare’s coverage criteria based on the receipt of notices from CMS or its agents,
publication in the Federal Register, or based on their “knowledge of what are considered
acceptable standards of practice by the local medical community.” (42 C.F.R. § 411.406(e)).
According to the Medicare Program Integrity Manual (MPIM), the supplier is liable for the
amount where the patient’s medical record does not support medical necessity for the item,
unless a properly executed Advance Beneficiary Notice has been obtained. (MPIM, Pub. 100-08,
Ch.5,§5.2.1).

B. Policy and Guidance

Administrative Law Judges may also give consideration to the manuals and rulings issued by the
CMS in determining benefit coverage and eligibility. Although not binding on the




Administrative Law Judge, the respective manuals provide guidance in the administration of the
Medicare program. (Skalala v. Guernsey Memorial Hospital, 514 U.S. 87 (1995)).

The Medicare Benefit Policy Manual (MBPM) gives guidance regarding coverage requirements
in a skilled nwrsing facility setting. The Medicare Benefit Policy Manual (“MBPM™), CMS
Publication 100-2, Chapter 8, CMS further incorporates the coverage requirements, as follows:

e The patient requires skilled nursing services or skilled rehabilitation services, i.e.,
services that must be performed by or under the supervision of professional or technical
personnel See §§ 30.2 - 30.4; are ordered by a physician and the services are rendered
for a condition for which the patient received inpatient hospital services or for a
condition that arose while receiving care in a SNF for a condition for which he received
inpatient hospital services.

e The patient requires these skilled services on a daily basis See § 30.6; and as a practical
matter, considering economy and efficiency, the daily skilled services can be provided
only on an inpatient basis in a SNF, See § 30.7.

o The services must be reasonable and necessary for the treatment of a patient’s illness or
injury, i.e., be consistent with the nature and severity of the individual’s illness or injury,
the individual’s particular medical needs, and accepted standards of medical practice.
The services must also be reasonable in terms of duration and quantity.” /d. at § 30.

CMS further instructs that if any one of these four factors is not met, a stay in a SNF, even
though it might include the delivery of some skilled services, is not covered. /d. When
reviewing SNF services to determine whether the level of care requirements is met, CMS
suggests that contractors first determine whether a patient needs skilled care. Id. “The
intermediary considers the nature of the service and the skills required for safe and effective
delivery of that service in deciding whether a service is a skilled service.” Id. at § 30.2.2.

Sections 1154, 1866(a)(1)(F) and 1886(f)(2) of the Act require that a Quality Improvement
Organization (QIO) review services furnished by physicians, other health care professionals,
providers and suppliers as specified in its contract with the Secretary of HHS to determine
compliance with Medicare law and policy. CMS instructs that under Part A of Medicare, the
QIO for each hospital is responsible for deciding, during review of inpatient admissions on a
case-by-case basis, whether the admission was medically necessary, Medicare law authorizes the
QIO to make these judgments, and the judgments are binding for purposes of Medicare coverage.
Id. Medicare regulations set forth at 42 C.F.R. § 476.100 require that, in assessing the need for
and appropriateness of an inpatient health care facility stay, a QIO must apply criteria to
determine the appropriateness of providing services at a particular health care facility or at a
particular level of care,

CMS provides guidance for the QIO to apply when it conducts a review of admissions and
discharges as specified in 42 C.F.R. § 476.71(a)(6). This guidance is contained in the Medicare
Quality Improvement Organizations Manual (MQIOM) (Internet-Only Manual Publ’n 100-10),
ch4, § 4110 (Rev. 2, 07-11-03), in relevant part as follows:




QIOs must conduct review of admissions and discharges as specified in 42 C.F.R.
476.71(a)(6). Review of the medical record must indicate that inpatient hospital
care was medically necessary, reasonable, and appropriate for the diagnosis and
condition of the patient at any time during the stay. The patient must demonstrate
signs and/or symptoms severe enough to warrant the need for medical care and
must receive services of such intensity that they can be furnished safely and
effectively only on an inpatient basis.

A. Determining Medical Necessity and Appropriateness of Admission/Discharge
-- Review the medical record and use appropriate criteria to determine if an
admission to a PPS or non-PPS hospital should be referred for physician review.
Similarly, use criteria to identify, for physician review, cases of potential
premature discharge (i.e., the patient was not medically stable and/or discharge
was not consistent with the patient's need for continued acute inpatient hospital
cate) (See §4510 on screening criteria).

The case is referred to a physician reviewer when the non-physician reviewer
cannot approve the hospitalization as necessary and/or another level of care would
have been appropriate without posing a threat to the safety or health of the patient.

The physician reviewer must consider, in his/her review of the medical record,
any preexisting medical problems or extenvating circumstances that make
admission of the patient medically necessary. Factors that may result in an
inconvenience to a patient or family do not, by themselves, justify inpatient
admission. When such factors affect the patient's health, consider them in
determining whether inpatient hospitalization was appropriate.

Inpatient care rather than outpatient care is required only if the patient's medical
condition, safety, or health would be significantly and directly threatened if care
was provided in a less intensive setting. Without accompanying medical
conditions, factors that may cause the patient inconvenience in terms of time and
money needed to care for the patient at home or for travel to a physician's office,
or that may cause the patient to worry, do not justify a continued hospital stay or
justify your approval of a higher-than- necessary level of care.

Certain services are considered regulatory examples of skilled services and those include; 1.)
overall management and evaluation of a care plan; 2.) observation and assessment of an unstable
patient’s changing condition; 3.) Levin tube and gastrostomy feedings; 4.) ongoing assessment of
rehabilitation needs and potential; 4.) therapeutic exercises and activities provided by a skilled
therapist; 5.) gait evaluation and training; and 6.) infravenous or intramuscular injections and
intravenous feedings. 42 C.F.R. §409.33.

Medicare laws state that if a hospital concludes that inpatient services will no longer be covered
by Medicare, the hospital is required to issue the Beneficiary an Advanced Beneficiary Notice
(ABN). The purpose of an ABN is to inform a Medicare beneficiary, before he or she receives




specified items of services, that Medicare certainty or probably will not pay for the items or
series in that particular instance. The ABN allows the beneficiary to make an informed decision
whether to receive the items or services for which he or she may ultimately be financially liable.
(Medicare Claims Processing Manual, Pub. 100-4, Ch. 30, §§ 10, 50.1)

To be acceptable, the ABN must give the beneficiary a reasonable idea of why the service
provider is predicting the likelihood of Medicare denial so that the beneficiary can make an
informed consumer decision whether to receive the service and pay for it personally. (Id. at §§
40.3, 40.3.8)

An ABN must meet certain standards to be acceptable as evidence of the beneficiary’s
knowledge for the purposes of liability. To be acceptable, the ABN must be in writing, in the
CMS-approved format, use approved notice language, ensure readability to facilitate the
beneficiary’s understanding, cite the particular service or services for which payment is likely to
be denied and cite the service provider’s reasons for believing Medicare payment will be denied.
(42 C.F.R. § 411.408(f)(1)).

ANALYSIS

The QIO concluded that the Appellant’s discharge from an acute hospital setting was appropriate
because it determined that she was medically stable and there was no plan for evaluation or
freatment that required a continued hospital stay. The Appellant claims that the Beneficiary’s
needs required continued inpatient hospital services beyond December 30, 2016 and up to
February 17, 2017.

Medicare sets forth the conditions for placing or maintaining a patient in an inpatient setting.
“Review of the medical record must indicate that inpatient hospital care was medically
necessary, reasonable, and appropriate for the diagnosis and condition of the patient at any time
during the stay. The patient must demonstrate signs and/or symptoms severe enough to warrant
the need for medical care and must receive services of such intensity that they can be furnished
-safely and effectively only on an inpatient basis.” The Medicare rules go further to state that
“[i]npatient care rather than oufpatient care is required only if the patient’s medical condition,
safety, or health would be significantly and directly threatened if care was provided in a less
intensive setting.” The beneficiary must have qualifying medical conditions. “Without
accompanying medical conditions, factors that may cause the patient inconvenience in terms of
time and money needed to care for the patient at home or for travel to a physician’s office, or that
may cause the patient to worry, do not justify a continued hospital stay or...a higher-than-
necessary level of care.,” Medicare Quality Improvement Organizations Manual (MQIOM)
(Internet-Only Manual Publ’n 100-10), ch 4, § 4110.

In addition, Medicare rules state that if a hospital determines that inpatient services will no
longer be covered by Medicare, the hospital is to issue the Beneficiary an Advanced Beneficiary
Notice (ABN). The purpose of an ABN is to inform a Medicare beneficiary, before he or she
receives specified items of services, that Medicare certainly or probably will not pay for the
items or services in that particular instance. . The ABN allows the beneficiary to make an
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informed decision whether to receive or decline the items or services for which he or she may be
financially liable. (Medicare Claims Processing Manual, Pub. 100-4, Ch, 30, §§ 10, 50.1)

To be acceptable, the ABN must give the beneficiary a reasonable idea of why the service
provider is predicting the likelihood of Medicare denial so that the beneficiary can make an
informed consumer decision -about whether he or she may agree to receive the service and
potentially pay for it out of their own pocket. (/d. at §§ 40.3, 40.3.8) The ABN must be in
writing, in the CMS-approved format and use approved notice language, ensure readability to
facilitate the beneficiary’s understanding, cite the particular service or services for which
payment is likely to be denied and cite the notifier’s reasons for believing Medicare payment will
be denied. (42 C.F.R. §411.404; 411.408(H)(1)).

In this case, the evidence shows that the Beneficiary was transferred to the provider’s facility
from a skilled nursing facility and admitted as an inpatient on December 2, 2016 after being
diagnosed with pneumonia, The Beneficiary’s sister stated that the Beneficiary had already had
pneumonia in November 2016 and was discharged from a previous hospital and became
reinfected. (Hearing CD). The Beneficiary suffered from an anoxic brain injury caused by a
Tylenol overdose as well as bronchiectasis, gastroesophageal reflux disease, anxiety, dysphagia,
contractures and she was fed through a PEG tube. The Beneficiary was rarely verbal but could
communicate at times. At the time of her hospitalization in December 2016, the Beneficiary was
noted to be non-verbal and incontinent of bowel and bladder. There is no question that the
Beneficiary required inpatient care at her admission, She was a very debilitated individual on a
PEG tube with pneumonia.

The Beneficiary completed one course of antibiotics and seemed to be doing better, Discharge
planning was initiated sometime in early to mid-December. However, on December 17, 2016,
the discharge order was cancelled because the Beneficiary became medically unstable, (Ex. 2, p.
84). The medical notes indicate new recurrent fevers as of December 13, 2016 and worsening
infiltrate seen on a chest x-ray. (e.g., Id. at p. 20).

The Beneficiary was started on a second course of antibiotics for pneumonia on December 25,
2016. The record documents frequent episodes in which the Beneficiary was coughing up
whitish thick sputum that had to be suctioned out by the nurse. In fact, on one occasion she had
so much sputum that it was affecting her oxygen saturation level. On December 29, 2016, the
Beneficiary’s oxygen saturation was 88% on room air. The oxygen saturation was raised to an
acceptable 93% after the Beneficiary had the sputum suctioned. The record indicates the
Beneficiary had atelectasis, or partial collapse, of the left lower lobe of her lungs as of December
27, 2016. (Ex. 2, p. 43). Furthermore, as noted by the Appellant the documents prior to
discharge indicate the Beneficiary had a fungal infection of the blood of unknown origin, a
recently diagnosed pericardial effusion and a 12 inch deep vein thrombosis.

The Beneficiary’s sister was a passionate and effective advocate on her sister’s behalf, She
maintained that the Beneficiary required continued inpatient hospital care due to her pneumonia,
inability to speak or eat, requirement for PEG feeding for all of her nutrition and other acute
illnesses. We acknowledge that factors such as inconvenience or increased cost to a beneficiary
or his or her family does not justify a continued inpatient hospital stay. The medical condition of
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the Beneficiary must be such that the Beneficiary’s health or life would be jeopardized in a less
intensive setting.

After our review of the medical records, we agree with the claims of the Appellant, The record
shows that the Beneficiary had multiple bouts of pneumonia and was unable to speak or eat,
Additionally, she continued to require tube feedings in order to obtain all of her nutrition, The
Beneficiary had a right ischial tuberosity (right sitting area) wound 1.2 x 2 c¢m that was treated
with venelex and foam dressing. (Ex. 2, p. 24). The Beneficiary had not been able to sit in a
wheelchair since her admission on December 2, 2016. The Beneficiary’s sister noted that in the
previous 12 years since her brain injury, the Beneficiary had never had a pressure sore. The
Beneficiary also had a new diagnosis of a large pericardial effusion and a deep vein thrombosis.
A pulmonary medicine progress report as of December 27, 2016 lists 19 “patient active
problems™ including aspiration pneumonia, sepsis, normocytic anemia, leukocytosis, pneumonia,
abnormal EEG, seizure and dyspnea. (Ex. 2, p. 36). The Appellant’s representative urged that
her sister was not medically stable at the time of the discharge and required continued inpatient
care. We cannot disagree. The Beneficiary was in a medically tenuous condition at the time the
hospital intended to transfer the Beneficiary to a lower level of care. The Beneficiary had a new
acute thrombosis in her upper extremity. She still had several significant acute illnesses, the
most significant of which involved her pulmonary status. The Beneficiary had been treated with
antibiotics beginning December 2, 2016 and continued to show an increase of infiltrates through
December 17, 2016 despite aggressive efforts to stop it. Moreover, the Beneficiary had a
propensity for recurrent infections and still had decreased breath sounds as of December 25,
2016. The Beneficiary’s sister noted that the Beneficiary had two more instances of pneumonia
since December 31, 2016. (Hearing CD). More germane to the present issue, though, two days
before the proposed discharge, the Beneficiary had a decreased oxygen saturation level of 88%
and the hospital needed to remove mucus from her lungs to increase her respiratory capacity. The
Beneficiary also had ancillary issues, including a recently diagnosed pericardial effusion and
fungal infection of her blood. Given the Beneficiary’s dangerous respiratory status and unstable
condition, as well as the other discovered issues, she had a significant risk of adverse
consequences without the close monitoring and treatment that could only be provided in an
inpatient hospital setting. The Beneficiary was not ready for discharge to a skilled nursing
facility as of December 31, 2016.

Furthermore, we also note that the notice to the Beneficiary was not shown to be effective. The
QIO maintained that the Beneficiary was advised via telephone of the hospital intent to terminate
inpatient services, despite the fact that the Beneficiary is unable to speak. There is no
documentation that such a telephone notice occurred. There is no summary of the telephone
conversation in the record. Additionally, the hospital never furnished the Beneficiary or her
representatives with written notice of its intent to cease the inpatient services. (Hearing CD).
Pursuant to Medicare regulations, if a hospital determines that services will no longer be covered
by Medicare, the hospital is to issue an advanced beneficiary notice (ABN) which must be in
writing. There is no evidence in this record that the hospital issued an ABN in writing to the
Appellant. The only written notice that is in the record from the hospital is a document titled
“An Important Message From Medicare About Your Rights” and states “Patient sister is not at
bedside 12/29” and “Patient nonverbal.” The initials “MA” are next to this statement, (Ex. 2, p.
46). Otherwise, there are only the KEPRO documents in the file which find in favor of the
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hospital’s decision. (Ex. 1). Consequently, on this basis too, the Appellant received defective
notice and was entitled to continued care as an inpatient.

Accordingly, the inpatient services after December 30, 2016 were medically reasonable and
necessary and Medicare should have continued to cover any inpatient acute hospital level of care
after that date until the Beneficiary stabilized and was able to be transferred to a lower level of
care.

CONCLUSION OF LAW

The Beneficiary was entitled to continue to receive Medicare covered inpatient acute hospital
level of care after December 30, 2016,

ORDER

The Medicare Contractor is DIRECTED to process this claim in accordance with this order,

o - i SO ORDERED.

bae: MAR 03207 I D %

Thomas S. Tyler
e U. S. Administrative Law Judge
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